Edgar Filing: CUMMINS INC - Form S-4/A

CUMMINS INC
Form S-4/A
February 13, 2004

AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ON FEBRUARY 13, 2004

REGISTRATION NO. (333-108829)

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

AMENDMENT NO. 4
TO
FORM S-4
REGISTRATION STATEMENT
UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

CUMMINS INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

INDIANA 3510 35-02570
(State or other Jjurisdiction of (Primary Standard Industrial (I.R.S. Emp
incorporation or organization) Classification Code Number) Identificatio

500 JACKSON STREET
BOX 3005
COLUMBUS, INDIANA 47202-3005
(812) 377-3121
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including
area code, of Registrant's principal executive offices)

MARYA M. ROSE, ESQ.
VICE PRESIDENT-GENERAL COUNSEL
AND CORPORATE SECRETARY
500 JACKSON STREET
BOX 3005
COLUMBUS, INDIANA 47202-3005
(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including
area code, of agent for service for Registrant)

COPY TO:

WILLIAM J. WHELAN, III, ESQ.
Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
Worldwide Plaza, 825 Eighth Avenue
New York, New York 10019



Edgar Filing: CUMMINS INC - Form S-4/A
(212) 474-1000

APPROXIMATE DATE OF COMMENCEMENT OF PROPOSED SALE OF THE SECURITIES TO THE
PUBLIC: As soon as practicable after the effective time of this Registration
Statement.

If the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in
connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with
General Instruction G, check the following box. / /

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering
pursuant to Rule 462 (b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and
list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective
registration statement for the same offering. / /

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462 (d)
under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act
registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement
for the same offering. / /

THE REGISTRANT HEREBY AMENDS THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON SUCH DATE OR
DATES AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO DELAY ITS EFFECTIVE DATE UNTIL THE REGISTRANT SHALL
FILE A FURTHER AMENDMENT WHICH SPECIFICALLY STATES THAT THIS REGISTRATION
STATEMENT SHALL THEREAFTER BECOME EFFECTIVE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 8 (A) OF
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR UNTIL THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT SHALL BECOME
EFFECTIVE ON SUCH DATE AS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ACTING
PURSUANT TO SAID SECTION 8 (A), MAY DETERMINE.

PROSPECTUS
[GRAPHIC]
$250,000, 000
CUMMINS INC.
EXCHANGE OFFER FOR
UP TO $250,000,000 PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OUTSTANDING
OF 9 1/2% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2010

FOR A LIKE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT
OF NEW 9 1/2% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2010

We are offering to exchange new 9 1/2% senior notes due 2010 (the "new

notes") for all of our outstanding unregistered 9 1/2% senior notes due 2010
(the "original notes"). The new 9 1/2% senior notes due 2010 will be free of the

transfer restrictions that apply to our outstanding unregistered 9 1/2% senior
notes due 2010 that you currently hold, but will otherwise have substantially
the same terms as the outstanding original notes. This offer will expire at
5:00 p.m., New York City time, on , 2004, unless we extend it. The new
notes will not trade on any established exchange.
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Each broker-dealer that receives new notes for its own account pursuant to
this exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in
connection with any resale of such new notes. The letter of transmittal
accompanying this prospectus states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a
prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an
"underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it
may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-
dealer in connection with resales of new notes received in exchange for
outstanding original notes where such outstanding original notes were acquired
by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities. We have agreed that, for a period of 180 days after the expiration
of this exchange offer, we will make this prospectus available to any
broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. See "Plan of
Distribution".

SEE "RISK FACTORS" BEGINNING ON PAGE 14 TO READ ABOUT IMPORTANT FACTORS YOU
SHOULD CONSIDER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS EXCHANGE OFFER.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY UNITED STATES
FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY
OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

Prospectus dated , 2004.

YOU SHOULD RELY ONLY ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROSPECTUS OR TO
WHICH WE HAVE REFERRED YOU. WE HAVE NOT AUTHORIZED ANYONE TO PROVIDE YOU WITH
DIFFERENT INFORMATION. WE ARE NOT MAKING AN OFFER OF THESE SECURITIES IN ANY
STATE WHERE THE OFFER IS NOT PERMITTED. YOU SHOULD NOT ASSUME THAT THE
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS ACCURATE AS OF ANY DATE OTHER THAN
THE DATE ON THE FRONT OF THIS PROSPECTUS.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Our fiscal year is comprised of a 52 or 53 week fiscal year which ends on
December 31. Fiscal 2002 refers to the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2002, fiscal
2001 refers to the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2001, fiscal 2000 refers to the
52 weeks ended December 31, 2000, fiscal 1999 refers to the 53 weeks ended
December 31, 1999 and fiscal 1998 refers to the 52 weeks ended December 31,
1998. In this prospectus, the nine months ended September 28, 2003 refers to the
39 weeks ended September 28, 2003 and the nine months ended September 29, 2002
refers to the 39 weeks ended September 29, 2002.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the information reporting requirements of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and, accordingly, file
annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information
with the SEC. Members of the public may read and copy any materials we file with
the SEC at the Public Reference Room maintained by the SEC at 450 Fifth Street,
N.W., Room 1024, Washington, D.C. 20549.

Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room maintained by the
SEC may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an
Internet site at http://www.sec.gov that contains materials we file
electronically with the SEC.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 under the
Securities Act with respect to this exchange offer. This prospectus does not
contain all of the information contained in the registration statement and the
exhibits to the registration statement. For further information with respect to
us, we refer you to the registration statement and the exhibits filed as part of
the registration statement.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that are based on
current expectations, estimates and projections about the industries in which we
operate and management's beliefs and assumptions. Words such as "expect",
"anticipate", "intend", "plan", "believe", "seek" and "estimate", and variations
of such words and similar expressions, are intended to identify such
forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which we
refer to as "future factors", which are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual
outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted
in such forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

Future factors include: increasing price and product competition by foreign
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and domestic competitors, including new entrants; rapid technological
developments and changes; our ability to continue to introduce competitive new
products on a timely, cost-effective basis; our mix of products; our achievement
of lower costs and expenses; domestic and foreign governmental and public policy
changes, including environmental regulations; protection and validity of patent
and other intellectual property rights; reliance on large customers;
technological, implementation and cost/financial risks in increasing use of
large, multi-year contracts; the cyclical nature of our business; the outcome of
pending and future litigation and governmental proceedings; and the continued
availability of financing, financial instruments and financial resources in the
amounts, at the times and on the terms required to support our future business.

These are representative of the future factors that could affect the outcome
of the forward-looking statements. In addition, such statements could be
affected by general industry and market conditions and growth rates, general
domestic and international economic conditions, including interest rate and
currency exchange rate fluctuations, and other future factors.

ii
SUMMARY

THIS SUMMARY HIGHLIGHTS INFORMATION CONTAINED ELSEWHERE IN THIS PROSPECTUS.
AS A RESULT, IT DOES NOT CONTAIN ALL OF THE INFORMATION THAT YOU SHOULD CONSIDER
BEFORE PARTICIPATING IN THIS EXCHANGE OFFER. YOU SHOULD READ THIS ENTIRE
PROSPECTUS, ESPECIALLY THE SECTION ENTITLED "RISK FACTORS". IN THIS PROSPECTUS,
UNLESS THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE REQUIRES, THE TERM "NOTES" REFERS TO BOTH THE
ORIGINAL NOTES THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THIS EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE NEW NOTES
THAT WILL BE ISSUED IN EXCHANGE FOR ORIGINAL NOTES IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER.

CUMMINS INC.

We are a global power leader that designs, manufactures, distributes and
services diesel and natural gas engines, electric power generation systems and
engine-related products, including filtration and emissions solutions, fuel
systems, controls and air handling systems. We were founded in 1919 as one of
the first manufacturers of diesel engines and are headquartered in Columbus,
Indiana. We sell our products to Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs),
distributors and other customers worldwide. We have long-standing relationships
with many of the leading manufacturers in the markets we serve, including
DaimlerChrysler, Volvo AB, PACCAR Inc., Navistar International Corporation, CNH
Global N.V., Scania AB and General Electric Company.

Our financial performance depends, in large part, on varying conditions in
the markets we serve, particularly the automotive, construction and general
industrial markets. Demand in these markets tends to fluctuate in response to
overall economic conditions and is particularly sensitive to changes in interest
rate levels and fuel costs. OEM inventory levels, production schedules and work
stoppages also impact our sales. Economic downturns in the markets we serve
generally result in a sales reduction, which affect our profits and cash flow.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We operate four complementary business segments that share technology,
customers, strategic partners, brands and our distribution network to gain a
competitive advantage in their respective markets. With our size and global
presence, we provide world-class products, service and support to our customers
in a cost-effective manner.

ENGINE BUSINESS. Our Engine Business manufactures and markets a broad array
of diesel and natural gas powered engines under the Cummins brand name for the
heavy- and medium-duty truck, bus, recreational vehicle (RV), light-duty
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automotive, agricultural, construction, mining, marine, oil and gas, rail and
governmental equipment markets. We offer a wide variety of engine products
ranging in size from 3.3 liters to 91 liters, providing from 60 horsepower to
3,500 horsepower. In addition, we provide a full range of new parts and service,
as well as remanufactured engines, through our extensive distribution network.
Our Engine Business accounted for approximately 56% of our total sales in 2002.

POWER GENERATION BUSINESS. Our Power Generation Business is a global
provider of power generation systems and services for customers needing
self-generated or standby power. Our power generation products are marketed
under the Cummins, Onan and Newage brands, and include diesel and alternative
fuel electrical generator sets for commercial and residential applications, such
as office buildings, hospitals, municipalities and homes. We also offer engines,
alternators, control systems and switchgear for sale to other generator set
assemblers, and are the worldwide leader in auxiliary generator sets for RVs and
diesel-powered recreational marine applications. In addition, we provide
maintenance contracts, rental options and other power solutions for our
customers. Our Power Generation Business accounted for approximately 20% of our
total sales in 2002.

FILTRATION AND OTHER BUSINESS. Our Filtration and Other Business produces
filters, silencers and intake and exhaust systems under the Fleetguard and
Nelson brand names and is the largest worldwide supplier of turbochargers for
commercial applications through our Holset brand. We manufacture filtration and
exhaust systems for on- and off-highway heavy-duty equipment and are a supplier
of filtration products for industrial and passenger car applications, exhaust
systems for small engine

equipment and silencing systems for gas turbines. In addition, we operate an
emission solutions business through which we develop systems to help our
customers meet increasingly stringent emissions standards. Our Filtration and
Other Business accounted for approximately 15% of our total sales in 2002.

INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTOR BUSINESS. Our International Distributor Business
distributes the full range of our products and services to end users at 111
locations in 50 countries and territories. Our trained personnel provide parts
and service to our customers, as well as full service solutions, including
maintenance contracts, engineering services and integrated products where we
customize our products to cater to specific end users. Our company-owned
distributors are located in key markets, including India, China, Japan,
Australia, the United Kingdom (UK) and South Africa. Our International
Distributor Business accounted for approximately 9% of our total sales in 2002.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On April 14, 2003, we announced that we had determined that our previously
issued financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 would
require restatement and reaudit. The restatement was necessary to correct prior
period accounting errors related primarily to unreconciled accounts payable
accounts at two of our manufacturing locations, the majority of which were
associated with the integration of a new enterprise resource planning system
into our accounting processes. We were required to have these restated financial
statements audited by our current auditors, since Arthur Andersen LLP, our
predecessor auditor for the years subject to restatement, had ceased operations.
The restatement and reaudit of our financial statements included a comprehensive
review of the accounting records underlying our financial statements for the
related periods.

On August 25, 2003, we announced that two of our engines had received
certification from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) for compliance
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with new stringent standards for urban transit applications. These engines are
the only current heavy-duty diesel engines certified as compliant with the 2004
EPA Urban Bus emissions standards using standard fuel without special soot
filter exhaust aftertreatment.

On January 27, 2004, we reported fourth-quarter 2003 sales of
$1.74 billion. Net earnings for the quarter before the cumulative effect of an
accounting change were $47 million, or $1.07 per share. Total sales for 2003
were $6.30 billion. Net earnings before the cumulative effect of accounting
changes were $54 million, or $1.36 per share.

The fourth quarter and full-year 2003 net earnings, as reported, were
$43 million, or $1.00 per share, and $50 million, or $1.27 per share,
respectively, which include a $4 million charge for the cumulative effect of an
accounting change resulting from the consolidation of a financing variable
interest entity as of December 31, 2003.

The 2003 fourth quarter produced record sales for the Filtration Business
and record sales and profitability for International Distributors Business.
Automotive and industrial markets improved in both quarter-over-quarter and
year-over-year comparisons, particularly in the heavy-duty and medium-duty
trucks, bus and construction equipment markets. 2003 was a record sales year for
the Dodge Ram pickup, with Cummins shipping 128,200 engines——-a 28 percent
increase over 2002. The Power Generation Business reported earnings of
$14 million in the quarter, returning to profitability on the strength of higher
volume and cost-reduction improvements. Strong sales in China helped boost
income from joint ventures and alliances to a record $70 million for 2003, more
than three times the income earned in the previous year.

Total sales for the Engine Business in the fourth quarter were
$984 million, a 27 percent increase from sales of $776 million a year ago.
Engine Business segment earnings before interest, income taxes, minority
interest and preferred dividends ("segment EBIT") was $32 million for the
quarter versus a loss of $1 million in the fourth quarter a year ago. Automotive
market sales were up 32 percent, compared with the fourth quarter of 2002. The
North American heavy-duty truck markets and global

medium-duty truck markets were particularly strong. Broad-based growth in
Cummins industrial markets drove a 16 percent year-over-year revenue increase,
driven by a 19 percent increase in sales for construction equipment and an

18 percent increase in sales for mining equipment.

The Power Generation Business reported fourth-quarter sales of
$392 million, up 21 percent from a year ago. Profitability improved
substantially with quarterly segment EBIT of $14 million compared with a loss of
$11 million in the fourth quarter last year. Sales of commercial gensets and
engines sold to other genset manufacturers were responsible for nearly half of
the sales increase from the year-ago quarter. The consumer segment of Power
Generation also performed extremely well, with record sales and profits that
reflected continuing strength in the recreational vehicle market. The higher
volume combined with continued focus on cost reduction initiatives provided the
strong improvement in segment performance.
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The Filtration and Other segment had record sales of $282 million for the
quarter, a 16 percent increase compared with the fourth quarter of 2002. North
American Emissions Solutions first-fit automotive sales and aftermarket sales in
the Middle East, Eastern Europe and Africa contributed to the year-over-year
revenue increase, as did an overall favorable currency impact. The Filtration
Business reported segment EBIT of $25 million, compared with $28 million a year
ago, as this business continues to fund growth initiatives, including its
long-term sales agreements, distribution and logistics improvements and the
Emissions Solutions business.

The 2003 fourth quarter set records for both sales and profitability for the
International Distributor Business, with demand improvement across nearly all
territories. Sales were $190 million in the fourth gquarter--an increase of
24 percent compared with sales of $153 million in last year's quarter. Segment
EBIT for the quarter was $13 million, compared with $12 million a year ago.

The following tables present (i) our consolidated statements of earnings for
the three months ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and for the three months ended
September 28, 2003; (ii) our unaudited consolidated statements of financial
position at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002; (iii) our unaudited
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
December 31, 2002; and (iv) certain unaudited segment information at and for the
three months ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 and for the years
ended and December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002. The numbers presented therein
are unaudited and are subject to adjustment during the course of our audit.

CUMMINS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(UNAUDITED)

THREE MONTHS ENDED YEAR ENDED

DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,
2003 2002 2003 2002

$ MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

NET SALES. s ittt ittt teeieeennnn. $1,736 $1,414 $6,296 $5,853
Cost of goods sold......vvvvnn.. 1,400 1,192 5,173 4,808
GROSS MARGIN. ...ttt ittt ittt 336 222 1,123 1,045
Selling and administrative

EXPENSES e v v v ettt et 227 172 830 736
Research and engineering

EXPENSES e v vt ettt ettt 52 37 200 201
Equity, royalty and other income

from investees....... ... (26) (6) (70) (22)

Restructuring, asset impairment and
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o o —— (10) —— (8)
Interest exXpense. .. ..o, 25 17 90 61
Loss on early retirement of debt... - 8 - 8
Other (income) expense, net........ (1) 1 (18) (9)

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES,
MINORITY INTEREST, DIVIDENDS ON
PREFERRED SECURITIES OF
SUBSIDIARY TRUST AND CUMULATIVE
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING

PRINCIPLES . .ttt ittt i iiteeeenn 59 3 91 78
Provision (benefit) for income

L= == S 7 (53) 12 (38)
Minority interest.................. 5 5 14 16
Dividends on preferred securities

of subsidiary trust.............. - 5 11 21

Earnings before cumulative effect

of change in accounting

principle. ... ..ttt 47 46 54 79
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle, net of

Earning Per Share
Basic
Earnings before cumulative
effect of change in
accounting principle......... $ 1.17 $ 1.20 $ 1.37 $ 2.06
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle, net of

L= 5 (.09) —— (.09) 07
Net earnings.....eeeeeeeeeeennn $ 1.08 $ 1.20 $ 1.28 $ 2.13
Diluted

Earnings before cumulative

effect of change in

accounting principle......... $ 1.07 $ 1.10 $ 1.36 $ 2.06
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle, net of

Weighted average shares

(millions)
BasicC. .ttt 40.1 38.9 39.3 38.6
Diluted.....cooiiiiiinnnn.. 46.7 45.2 39.5 38.8



Edgar Filing: CUMMINS INC - Form S-4/A

CUMMINS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(UNAUDITED)
DECEMBER 31, 2003 DECEMBER 31,
$ MILLIONS
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalentsS. . v ettt ettt ittt e eeeneeeeenennns $ 108 S 224
Marketable securities. ... .ttt it eiieeeeennn 87 74
Receivables, Net ...ttt ittt ittt ettt et e eeeaenanns 929 805
I 0 VY o B B A O 733 641
Other current asSSel S ...ttt ittt ettt eeeeeenneanns 273 238
2,130 1,982
Property, plant and equipment..........iiiiiieteeennnneennn 1,347 1,305
B 0 VY (11D o = 339 264
(€ e e 344 343
Other intangibles and deferred charges............ oo, 92 96
Deferred InCOmMEe £aXeS . i i ittt ii e ittt eeeeeeeeaneeeeenns 663 640
Other non current assSet S . ...ttt ittt ittt eaeeeaeenns 211 207
O T AL ASSE T S . it ittt ettt e e e ettt ittt ettt eeneneneens $5,126 $4,837
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
L0ans PAYAD Ll . ittt ittt e e et e e e e e e ettt e e S 28 S 19
Current maturities of long-term debt...................... 21 119
Accounts payvable. ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 557 427
Accrued product coverage and marketing expenses........... 246 233
Other acCruUued EXPENSES . i v v ittt ittt ettt eeneeeeeeeenneeens 539 531
1,391 1,329
Long—term debt . ...ttt it ettt et e e e e 1,088 999
Cummins-obligated mandatorily redeemable convertible
preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely
convertible subordinated debentures of Cummins............ 292 -
Other long-term liabilities........iiiiiiiiiiineennnnennnn 1,283 1,285
Minority dnterest . ...ttt ittt e ettt et e 123 92
Cummins-obligated mandatorily redeemable convertible
preferred securities of subsidiary trust holding solely
convertible subordinated debentures of Cummins............ - 291
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stock, $2.50 par value, 48.3 and 48.6 shares
== G 1T 121 121
Additional contributed capital......c.o.iii ittt 1,113 1,115
Retained earningsS. ... ittt ittt ittt teeeeeeeeeenaanns 569 569
Accumulated other comprehensive income.................... (492) (527)
Common stock in treasury, at cost, 5.6 and 7.0 shares..... (225) (280)
Common stock held in trust for employee benefit plans, 2.3
ANd 2.0 SNATE S . it it ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (113) (128)
Unearned compensation. ... ..ot ii ittt teeeeeeeeeennenns (24) (29)
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TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY...........

CUMMINS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(UNAUDITED)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net EarNINg S . vt vt i ettt ettt et eeeeeeeeeeannnn

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash from

operating activities:

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Loss on early extinguishment of debt.............
Depreciation and amortization....................
Restructuring and other........ ...
Equity in earnings of investees..................
Minority interest...... .t
Non-cash compensation expense..........c.cccvveun..
Amortization of gain on swap unwind..............
Translation and hedging activities...............

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Recedvables . vttt ittt ettt i it
Proceeds (repayments) from sale of receivables...
0 0 = 0w s =
Accounts payable and accrued exXpensesS............
L o

Total adjustment S . .. v ittt ittt ittt et e eeaenn

Net cash provided by operating activities..........

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Property, plant and equipment:

Capital expenditures. ......oii it ennnnenns
Investments in internal use software.............
Proceeds from disposalsS.......eeeineeeeennnnenns

Investments in and advances to joint wventures and

o e = o Y = e
Acquisitions and dispositions of business activities,

YEAR ENDED

DECEMBER 31, DECEMBER 31,
2003 2002
$ MILLIONS

$ 50 $ 82
4 (3)

- 8
223 219
- (21)
(54) (9)
14 16

24 19
(7) (4)
(18) 2
(64) (87)
- (55)
(63) 46

3 (40)

46 20
108 111
158 193
(111) (90)
(29) (20)
13 16
(4) (60)

- 32
(137) (116)
134 86

11
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[ ] w0 Sl (1) ——
Net cash used in investing activities..................... (135) (152)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES..... 23 41

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from DOrrOWINgS. . ...t ii i ittt tneeeeeeeeenneenns 19 258
Payments On DOrroOWingS . .« .o i it ii ittt etneeeeeeeeennenens (150) (87)
Net borrowings (payments) under short-term credit

Fo e el YO (LS o = O 7 (4)
Issuance Of COmMMON StOCK . . .o i ittt ittt ittt ettt eeeeeeenns 52 15
Dividend payments on common stock...........ieiiiinnaan.. (50) (50)
[ ] w0 Sl (23) (1)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities....... (145) 131

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

EQUIVA LN S . i it ittt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 6 2

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. ...ttt eeenenenns (116) 174

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year.......... 224 50

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR. ...ttt ettt eeennns $ 108 S 224
6

CUMMINS INC.
SEGMENT INFORMATION

(UNAUDITED)
FILTRATION
POWER AND INTERNATIONAL
ENGINE GENERATION OTHER DISTRIBUTOR ELIMINAT
$ MILLIONS
Three Months Ended December 31,
2003
Net SAleS . vt it i eeenennns $ 984 $ 392 S 282 $190 $ (112
Segment EBIT. ...t eennnnnnnn 32 14 25 13 —=
Net assetS. i it i ittt ieeeeennns 1,061 499 644 180 —=
Three Months Ended December 31,
2002
Net SAleS. .t eeeeeneneeeennnns $ 776 $ 324 S 244 $153 S (83
Segment EBIT. ...t ennnennnnns (1) (11) 28 12 ——

12
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............... 909
31, 2003

............... $3,631
............... 70
31, 2002

............... $3,435
............... 49

522 645 168 ——
$1,329 $1,056 $669 $ (389
(15) 86 40 __
$1,226 $ 951 $574 $ (333
(25) 94 29 __

SUMMARY OF TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

On November 20, 2002, we completed a private placemen
of $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of origina
9 1/2% senior notes due 2010. In connection with that
private placement, we entered into a registration rig
agreement in which we agreed to complete an exchange
offer.
We are offering to exchange our new 9 1/2% senior not
due 2010 for a like principal amount of our outstandi
original notes. Original notes may only be tendered i
integral multiples of $1,000 principal amount. See "T
Exchange Offer—--Terms of the Exchange".
Based upon the position of the staff of the SEC as
described in previous no-action letters, we believe t
new notes issued pursuant to the exchange offer in
exchange for original notes may be offered for resale
resold and otherwise transferred by you without
compliance with the registration and prospectus deliv
provisions of the Securities Act, provided that:
- you are acquiring the new notes in the ordinary cou
of your business;
- you have not engaged in, do not intend to engage in
and have no arrangement or understanding with any per
to participate in the distribution of the new notes
and
- you are not our affiliate as defined under Rule 405
the Securities Act.
We do not intend to apply for listing of the new note
on any securities exchange or to seek approval for
quotation through an automated quotation system.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that an active
market will develop upon completion of the exchange
offer or, if developed, that such market will be
sustained or as to the liquidity of any market.
FEach participating broker-dealer that receives new no
for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer in
exchange for original notes that were acquired as a
result of market-making or other trading activity mus
acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in
connection with any resale of new notes. See "Plan of
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Distribution".
Consequences If You Do Not Exchange Your
Original NotesS......iiii it eenenennnn Original notes that are not tendered in the exchange

offer or are not accepted for exchange will continue

bear legends restricting their transfer. You will not

able to offer or sell the original notes unless:

- pursuant to an exemption from the requirements of t
Securities Act; or

— the original notes are registered under the Securit
Act.

After the exchange offer is closed, we will no longer

have an obligation to register the original notes,

except for some limited exceptions. See "Risk

Factors—-If you fail to exchange your original notes,

they will continue to be restricted securities and ma

become less liquid".

Expiration Date...... ... The exchange offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York
City time, on , 2004, unless we extend the
exchange offer. See "The Exchange Offer--Expiration
Date; Extensions; Amendments".

Exchange Date; Issuance of New Notes...... The date of acceptance for exchange of original notes
the exchange date, which will be the first business d
following the expiration date. We will issue new note
in exchange for original notes tendered and accepted
the exchange offer promptly following the exchange da
See "The Exchange Offer--Terms of the Exchange".

Certain Conditions to the Exchange

[ The exchange offer is subject to certain customary
conditions, which we may waive. See "The Exchange
Offer--Conditions to the Exchange Offer".

Special Procedures for Beneficial

= £ @ L If you beneficially own original notes which are
registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercia
bank, trust company or other nominee and you wish to
tender in the exchange offer, you should contact such
registered holder promptly and instruct such person t
tender on your behalf. If you wish to tender in the
exchange offer on your own behalf, you must, prior to
completing and executing the letter of transmittal an
delivering your original notes, either arrange to hav
the original notes registered in your name or obtain
properly completed bond power from the registered
holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take
considerable time. See "Exchange Offer--Procedures fc
Tendering".

Withdrawal Rights......... .. You may withdraw your tender of original notes at any
time before the exchange offer expires. See "Exchange
Offer--Withdrawal of Tenders".

Accounting Treatment............ccviinnn. We will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting
purposes upon the completion of the exchange offer. T
expenses of the exchange offer that we pay will incre
our deferred financing costs in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. See "The
Exchange Offer--Accounting Treatment".

Certain Tax CONSEQUENCES . . v vt eeeeeennnn The exchange pursuant to the exchange offer generally
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Use Of ProceedsS . . v it iieeieeteeennneeennn

Exchange Agent.........couiiiiitiennneennn

should not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income
tax purposes. See "U.S. Federal Income Tax
Consequences".

We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange or
the issuance of new notes in connection with the
exchange offer. See "Use of Proceeds".

BNY Midwest Trust Company is serving as exchange agen
in connection with the exchange offer. See "Exchange
Offer--Exchange Agent".

SUMMARY OF THE TERMS OF THE NOTES

OTHER THAN THE OBLIGATIONS TO CONDUCT AN EXCHANGE OFFER, THE NEW NOTES WILL
HAVE THE SAME FINANCIAL TERMS AND COVENANTS AS THE ORIGINAL NOTES, WHICH ARE AS

FOLLOWS :

Issuer....

Securities

Maturity..

Interest Payment Dates....................

Optional Redemption............ccooiiiee...

Ranking...

Guarantees

Cummins Inc.

$250 million aggregate principal amount of 9 1/2% sen
notes due 2010.

December 1, 2010.
June 1 and December 1 of each year.

The notes are redeemable, at our option, in whole or
time to time in part at any time after December 1, 20
a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amc
plus a premium declining ratably to par, plus accrued
unpaid interest, if any. See "Description of the
Notes—--Optional Redemption".

The notes are general, unsecured obligations of Cummi
Inc. and rank equally in right of payment with all of
Cummins Inc.'s existing and future unsubordinated deb
senior in right of payment to all of Cummins Inc.'s
existing and future subordinated debt. The notes are
effectively subordinated to all of Cummins Inc.'s sec
debt to the extent of the value of the assets securin
debt and structurally subordinated to all of the exis
and future liabilities, including guarantees, of Cumm
Inc.'s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes.
September 28, 2003, Cummins Inc. and its subsidiaries
$851 million of total indebtedness outstanding, exclu
the original notes, approximately (a) $83 million of
is secured debt and effectively senior to the securit
being registered and (b) $768 million of which ranks
equally with the securities being registered. A numbe
Cummins Inc.'s current and future domestic subsidiari
guaranteeing borrowings under our $385 million revolv
credit facility and have secured those guarantees wit
certain of their assets. See "Description of Other
Indebtedness—--New Revolving Credit Facility".

The notes are not currently guaranteed by any of our

subsidiaries. In the future, the notes may be
unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint and several ba

15



Change of Control....

Restrictive Covenants
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by certain of our subsidiaries that guarantee our or
subsidiary guarantor's other indebtedness. The guaran
by these subsidiary guarantors will be general unsecu
obligations and rank equally with any of their existi
future obligations that are not expressly subordinate
the subsidiary guarantees. However, during such time
notes receive and maintain an investment grade rating
both Standard & Poor's and Moody's, our subsidiaries
guarantee our other indebtedness will not be required
guranteee the notes. See "Description of the
Notes——-Guarantees" and "--Certain Covenants—--Suspensi
Covenants and Covenant Substitution".

Upon the occurrence of a "Change of Control", we will
required, unless at the time of the Change of Control
during

the 30-day period following the Change of Control) th
notes have an investment grade rating from both Stand
Poor's and Moody's, to make an offer to repurchase ea
holder's notes at a price equal to 101% of the princi
amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
to the date of repurchase. See "Description of the No
Certain Covenants—--Change of Control".

The indenture governing the notes contains certain
covenants that, among other things, limit our ability
the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to:

- incur additional indebtedness and issue preferred s
- pay dividends or make certain other restricted paym
- create liens on our assets;

- make investments;

— create restrictions on the payment of dividends or
amounts from our restricted subsidiaries;

- enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

— engage in transactions with affiliates;

- merge or consolidate with any other person; and

- sell our assets.

These covenants are subject to important exceptions a
qualifications, which are described in "Description o
Notes—-—-Certain Covenants".

During such time as the notes receive and maintain an
investment grade rating from both Standard & Poor's a

Moody's, these covenants will be suspended, and subst
forms of indebtedness and preferred stock, negative p

16
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sale and leaseback and merger and consolidation coven
will apply to us and our restricted subsidiaries. In
an event, the covenants under the indenture for the n
will be substantially similar to the covenants under
1986 Indenture (which governs a number of our other n

and debentures). See "Description of the Notes--Certa
Covenants—--Suspension of Covenants and Covenant
Substitution".

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider all of the information set forth and
incorporated by reference in this prospectus and, in particular, you should
evaluate the specific factors set forth in the section entitled "Risk Factors",
which begins on page 11, for a discussion of certain risks that should be
considered by investors in evaluating whether to participate in the exchange
offer.

Cummins Inc. is an Indiana corporation. Our executive offices are located at
500 Jackson Street, Columbus, Indiana 47202, and our telephone number is
(812) 377-5000.

11
SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents our summary financial data. The historical
financial data for each of the years in the three year period ended
December 31, 2002 and as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 has been derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.
The financial information as of December 31, 2000 has been derived from our
previously issued financial statements for that year adjusted for the impact of
the restatement adjustments discussed in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The historical financial data
for the nine month periods ended September 28, 2003 and September 29, 2002 and
as of September 28, 2003 and September 29, 2002 has been derived from our
unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. We have prepared our unaudited consolidated financial statements on
the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and have
included all adjustments, including all normal recurring adjustments, that we
consider necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position and
operating results for the unaudited periods. The results for the nine months
ended September 28, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may
be expected for the year ending December 31, 2003.

You should read the following summary financial data in conjunction with
"Selected Historical Financial Data", "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER

17
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STATEMENT OF EARNINGS DATA:

NEl SALES . ittt ittt et et et ettt e ettt e e e $5,853 $5,681 $6,597 S
[t T T (1= ek i 5 o N 1,045 1,013 1,267
Restructuring, asset impairment and other charges

(CTedits) (2) (3) v v ettt ettt ettt ettt e eeeeeeeseeeeaanaaens (8) 126 154
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (4).................. 8 —= —=
Interest eXPEeNSEe (0) v v v v ittt it ettt eeeeeeeeeeeneeeeeeeenns 61l 77 87
Dividends on preferred securities (6) .....c.iiiiiiennnnn. 21 11 ——
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net

L S o= (= 1 3 —= —=
Net €arnNings (LOSS) c v v v ittt ie et ettt eeeeeeeeeeaaeeaeenns 82 (103) 14
Net earnings (loss) per share:
= = I 1t 2.13 (2.70) 0.35
0 T S Y o 2.13 (2.70) 0.35
Dividends declared per share....... ..ottt ennnnns 1.20 1.20 1.20

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 -

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT
OTHER DATA:
Property, plant and equipment additions............... S 90 $ 206 S 228 S

Consolidated ratio of earnings to fixed charges (1)... 1.5 —— 1.0

BALANCE SHEET DATA (AS OF PERIOD END) :

WOrKing CapPital. i s it ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e $ 653 $ 557 S 589 S
Property, plant and equipment, net.................... 1,305 1,405 1,596
Total ASSEE S . it ittt ittt ittt ettt ettt ettt e 4,837 4,311 4,448
Long-—term debt ... ..ttt ittt et e et e 999 915 1,032
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities........... 291 291 -
Shareholders' investment......... ..ttt tnnennnnn 841 983 1,280

(1) For purposes of calculating the consolidated ratios of earnings to fixed
charges, "earnings" includes income before income taxes, extraordinary
items, the cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles and
earnings or losses of equity investees and fixed charges. "Fixed charges"
consists of interest on all indebtedness, including interest incurred by
consolidated companies, the amount of pre-tax earnings required to pay
dividends on outstanding preferred stock and that portion of rental expense
that management believes to be representative of interest. Our earnings were
insufficient to cover

12

fixed charges for the year ended December 31, 2001 by approximately
$135 million as well as for the nine months ended September 28, 2003 by
approximately $5 million.

(2) The years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, includes restructuring,
asset impairment and other charges of $(8) million, $126 million and
$154 million respectively. These charges are more fully discussed in Note 7
of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
registration statement.

18
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(3) The nine months ended September 29, 2002 includes restructuring, asset
impairment and other charges of $2 million. This charge is more fully
discussed in Note 3 of our interim unaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(4) The year ended December 31, 2002 includes a charge of $8 million related to
a loss on the early extinguishment of debt. This charge is more fully
discussed in Note 8 of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) The year ended December 31, 2002 and the nine months ended September 29,
2002 includes income of $3 million related to a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principles. This matter is more fully discussed in
Note 1 of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) As of July 1, 2003, dividends on our preferred securities are classified as
interest expense due to the adoption of SFAS 150. See Note 1 of our interim
unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

13
RISK FACTORS

IN CONSIDERING WHETHER TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS EXCHANGE OFFER, YOU SHOULD
CAREFULLY CONSIDER ALL OF THE INFORMATION WE HAVE INCLUDED IN THIS PROSPECTUS.
IN PARTICULAR, YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY CONSIDER THE RISK FACTORS DESCRIBED BELOW
BEFORE MAKING A DECISION TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS EXCHANGE OFFER.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS
OUR BUSINESS IS AFFECTED BY THE CYCLICAL NATURE OF THE MARKETS THAT WE SERVE.

Our financial performance depends, in large part, on varying conditions in
the markets that we serve, particularly the automotive, construction and general
industrial markets. Demand in these markets fluctuates in response to overall
economic conditions and is particularly sensitive to changes in interest rate
levels and fuel costs. Our sales are also impacted by OEM inventory levels and
production schedules and stoppages. Economic downturns in the markets we serve
generally result in reductions in sales and pricing of our products, which could
reduce our profits and cash flow.

Since 2000, the markets we serve in North America have been experiencing a
downturn, most notably in the markets for heavy-duty trucks, medium-duty trucks,
construction equipment and a number of consumer-driven markets, such as those
for light-duty trucks and recreational vehicles. These conditions had a negative
impact on the performance of our Engine Business. Depending upon markets served,
engine production volumes decreased by as much as 78% on a global basis from
peak volumes during the 5 years preceding 2003. This resulted in a reduction of
Engine Business gross margin percentage of as much as 35% during this period,
primarily related to our decreased ability to recover fixed costs of
manufacturing at decreased volumes during global economic downturns. The Engine
Business constituted then and continues to constitute between 54% and 60% of our
total consolidated revenues. Fluctuations in the gross margins of this business,
therefore, have a significant impact on our overall financial performance. In
addition, weak conditions in the markets served by our Power Generation Business
have resulted in decreased demand and high inventory levels, which have
negatively affected our performance in this segment. Any continued weakness in
the markets we serve or in overall global economic conditions could result in
continued reduction in demand for our products and could have a material adverse
affect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.
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OUR PRODUCTS ARE SUBJECT TO SUBSTANTIAL GOVERNMENT REGULATION.

Our engines are subject to extensive statutory and regulatory requirements
governing emissions and noise, including standards imposed by the EPA, state
regulatory agencies, such as the California Air Resource Board (CARB), and other
regulatory agencies around the world. In some cases, we may be required to
develop new products to comply with new regulations, particularly those relating
to air emissions. For example, under the terms of a consent decree that we and a
number of other engine manufacturers entered into with the DOJ, the CARB and the
EPA, we were required to develop new engines to comply with stringent emissions
standards by October 1, 2002. While we were able to meet this deadline, our
ability to comply with other existing and future regulatory standards will be
essential for us to maintain our position in the engine markets we serve.
Currently, we believe we are on schedule to meet all deadlines for known future
regulatory standards.

We have made, and will be required to continue to make, significant capital
and research expenditures to comply with these standards but we cannot assure
you that we will be able to achieve the technological advances that may be
necessary for us to continue to comply with evolving regulatory standards.
Further, the successful development and introduction of new and enhanced
products are subject to risks, such as delays in product development, cost
over-runs and unanticipated technical and manufacturing difficulties. Any
failure to comply with regulatory standards affecting our products could subject
us to fines or penalties, and could require us to cease production of any
non-compliant engine or to recall any engines produced and sold in violation of
the applicable standards. See "Business—-—
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Environmental Compliance--Product Environmental Compliance" for a complete
discussion of the environmental laws and regulations that affect our products.

WE CANNOT ASSURE YOU THAT OUR TRUCK MANUFACTURER AND OEM CUSTOMERS WILL CONTINUE
TO OUTSOURCE THEIR ENGINE SUPPLY NEEDS.

Some of our engine customers, including Volvo and DaimlerChrysler, are truck
manufacturers or OEMs that manufacture engines for their own products. Despite
their engine manufacturing abilities, these customers have chosen to outsource
certain types of engine production to us due to the quality of our engine
products and in order to reduce costs, eliminate production risks and maintain
company focus. However, we cannot assure you that these customers will continue
to outsource engine production in the future. Increased levels of production
insourcing could result from a number of factors, such as shifts in our
customers' business strategies, which could result from the acquisition of
another engine manufacturer, the inability of third party suppliers to meet
product specifications and the emergence of low-cost production opportunities in
foreign countries. Any significant reduction in the level of engine production
outsourcing from our truck manufacturer or OEM customers could significantly
impact our revenues and, accordingly, have a material adverse affect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

OUR LARGEST CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS FOR A SIGNIFICANT SHARE OF OUR BUSINESS.

Sales to DaimlerChrysler accounted for approximately 14 percent of our net
sales for 2002, primarily relating to sales of our ISB engine for use in the
Dodge Ram truck and sales of our heavy-and medium-duty engines to its
Freightliner division. While a significant number of our sales to
DaimlerChrysler are under long-term supply agreements, these agreements provide
for the supply of DaimlerChrysler's engine requirements for particular models
and not a specific number of engines. Accordingly, the loss of DaimlerChrysler
as a customer or a significant decline in the production levels for the vehicles
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in which DaimlerChrysler uses our products would have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

OUR MANUFACTURING OPERATIONS ARE DEPENDENT UPON THIRD-PARTY SUPPLIERS, MAKING US
VULNERABLE TO SUPPLY SHORTAGES.

We obtain materials and manufactured components from third-party suppliers.
A significant number of our suppliers (representing 75 to 85 percent of our
total raw material and component purchasers in 2002) are the sole source for a
particular supply item, although the majority of these materials and components
can be obtained from other suppliers. Any delay in our suppliers' abilities to
provide us with necessary materials and components may affect our capabilities
at a number of our manufacturing locations, or may require us to seek
alternative supply sources. Delays in obtaining supplies may result from a
number of factors affecting our suppliers, such as capacity constraints, labor
disputes, the impaired financial condition of a particular supplier, suppliers'
allocations to other purchasers, weather emergencies or acts of war or
terrorism. Any delay in receiving supplies could impair our ability to deliver
products to our customers and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

WE MAY BE ADVERSELY IMPACTED BY WORK STOPPAGES AND OTHER LABOR MATTERS.

As of December 31, 2002, we employed approximately 23,700 persons worldwide.
Approximately 9,700 of our employees are represented by various unions under
collective bargaining agreements that expire between 2003 and 2005. Although we
believe our relations with our unions are good, we cannot assure you that future
issues with labor unions will be resolved favorably or that we will not in the
future encounter strikes, further unionization efforts or other types of
conflicts with labor unions or our employees. Any of these factors may have an
adverse effect on us or may limit our flexibility in dealing with our workforce.
In addition, many of our customers have unionized work forces. Work
stoppages or

15

slow-downs experienced by our customers could result in slow-downs or closures
at vehicle assembly plants where our engines are installed. If one or more of
our customers experience a material work stoppage, it could have a material

adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

OUR PRODUCTS INVOLVE RISKS OF EXPOSURE TO PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS.

We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability claims in
the event that our products' failure to perform to specifications results, or is
alleged to result, in property damage, bodily injury and/or death. We may
experience material product liability losses in the future. While we maintain
insurance coverage with respect to certain product liability claims, we may not
be able to obtain such insurance on acceptable terms in the future, if at all,
and any such insurance may not provide adequate coverage against product
liability claims. In addition, product liability claims can be expensive to
defend and can divert the attention of management and other personnel for
significant periods of time, regardless of the ultimate outcome. An unsuccessful
defense of a product liability claim could have a material adverse affect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition and cash flows. In
addition, even if we are successful in defending against a claim relating to our
products, claims of this nature could cause our customers to lose confidence in
our products and our company.

AN INCREASE IN OUR PENSION COSTS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT US.

We have several contributory and noncontributory pension plans covering
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substantially all of our employees. Our pension plan assets are principally
invested in equity securities and fixed income securities. We may be required to
contribute to a particular pension plan where the present value of the
accumulated benefit obligation under the plan exceeds the fair value of the plan
assets.

We have assumed an expected rate of return on plan assets of 10.0 percent in
the United States and 8.5 percent in the United Kingdom during the past two
years. Due to lower market returns in the past two years, we now intend to lower
our asset return assumptions to 8.5 percent in the United States and 8.2 percent
in the United Kingdom. We expect to use these return on plan asset assumptions
for 2003 and will continue to review and update these assumptions on an annual
basis. In 2003, we expect our pension expense to increase approximately $30
million due primarily to reducing our expected rate of return on plan assets.

Recent declines in equity markets and interest rates have had a negative
impact on our pension plan liability and the fair value of plan assets. As a
result, the fair value of plan assets was lower than our accumulated pension
benefit obligation at our measurement date. Based on the fair value of plan
assets and interest rates, each as of November 30, 2002, we recorded a charge of
$257 million to shareholders' equity during the fourth quarter.

OUR OPERATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO EXTENSIVE ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS AND REGULATIONS.

Our plants and operations are subject to increasingly stringent
environmental laws and regulations in all of the countries in which we operate,
including laws and regulations governing emissions to air, discharges to water
and the generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of
waste materials. While we believe that we are in compliance in all material
respects with these environmental laws and regulations, we cannot assure you
that we will not be adversely impacted by costs, liabilities or claims with
respect to existing or subsequently acquired operations, under either present
laws and regulations or those that may be adopted or imposed in the future. We
are also subject to laws requiring the cleanup of contaminated property. If a
release of hazardous substances occurs at or from any of our current of former
properties or at a landfill or another location where we have disposed of
hazardous materials, we may be held liable for the contamination, and the amount
of such liability could be material.

16

WE ARE EXPOSED TO POLITICAL, ECONOMIC AND OTHER RISKS THAT ARISE FROM OPERATING
A MULTINATIONAL BUSINESS.

Approximately 45 percent of our net sales for 2002 were derived from sources
outside the United States. Accordingly, our business is subject to the
political, economic and other risks that are inherent in operating in numerous

countries. These risks include:

— the difficulty of enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through
foreign legal systems;

- trade protection measures and import or export licensing requirements;

- tax rates in certain foreign countries that exceed those in the United
States and the imposition of withholding requirements on foreign earnings;

- the imposition of tariffs, exchange controls or other restrictions;

- difficulty in staffing and managing widespread operations and the
application of foreign labor regulations;
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- required compliance with a variety of foreign laws and regulations; and

- changes in general economic and political conditions in countries where we
operate, particularly in emerging markets.

As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in
part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks.
We cannot assure you that these and other factors will not have a material
adverse affect on our international operations or on our business as a whole.

WE ARE SUBJECT TO CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE AND OTHER RELATED RISKS.

We conduct operations in many areas of the world involving transactions
denominated in a variety of currencies. We are subject to currency exchange rate
risk to the extent that our costs are denominated in currencies other than those
in which we earn revenues. In addition, since our financial statements are
denominated in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange rates between the U.S.
dollar and other currencies have had, and will continue to have, an impact on
our earnings. While we customarily enter into financial transactions to address
these risks, we cannot assure you that currency exchange rate fluctuations will
not adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, while the use of currency hedging instruments may provide us with
protection from adverse fluctuations in currency exchange rates, by utilizing
these instruments we potentially forego the benefits that might result from
favorable fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

We also face risks arising from the imposition of exchange controls and
currency devaluations. Exchange controls may limit our ability to convert
foreign currencies into U.S. dollars or to remit dividends and other payments by
our foreign subsidiaries or businesses located in or conducted within a country
imposing controls. Currency devaluations result in a diminished value of funds
denominated in the currency of the country instituting the devaluation. Actions
of this nature, if they occur or continue for significant periods of time, could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition in
any given period.

REVISION OR WITHDRAWAL OF OUR CREDIT RATINGS MAY NEGATIVELY IMPACT OUR ABILITY
TO ISSUE DEBT AND THE COST OF OUR FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS.

A number of our financing agreements and arrangements, such as our accounts
receivable securitization program, our financing arrangements for independent
distributors, our new revolving credit facility and our equipment sale-leaseback
agreement, have restrictive covenants and/or pricing modifications that may be
triggered in the event of ratings revisions. Our corporate credit rating is
currently "BB+" from Standard & Poor's, with a stable outlook, and "Bal" from
Moody's, with a negative outlook. Our long-term senior unsecured debt rating is
currently "BB+" from Standard &
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Poor's, with a negative outlook, and "Ba2" from Moody's, with a negative
outlook. A rating of Baa or higher by Moody's or a rating of BBB or higher by
Standard & Poor's is considered investment grade. Accordingly, our long-term
senior unsecured debt rating is below investment grade. Our long-term senior
unsecured debt rating was downgraded by Moody's from "Bal" to "Ba2" on
November 7, 2002 as a result of us securing our borrowings under the new
revolving credit facility. Any rating can be revised upward or downward or
withdrawn at any time by a rating agency if it decides the circumstances warrant
that change, and there can be no assurance that our debt ratings will not be
lowered further or withdrawn by a rating agency. Any future lowering of our
credit ratings could further increase the cost of our financing agreements and
arrangements, and also have a negative impact on our ability to access the
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capital markets or borrow funds at current rates.
WE FACE SIGNIFICANT COMPETITION IN THE MARKETS WE SERVE.

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive. We compete worldwide
with a number of other manufacturers and distributors that produce and sell
similar products. Our products primarily compete on the basis of price,
performance, fuel economy, speed of delivery, quality and customer support. Some
of our competitors are companies, or divisions or operating units of companies,
that have greater financial and other resources than we do. There can be no
assurance that our products will be able to compete successfully with the
products of these other companies. Any failure by us to compete effectively in
the markets we serve could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. For a more complete discussion of
the competitive environment in which each of our business segments operates, see
"Business—--Our Business Segments".

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE NOTES
THE AMOUNT OF OUR INDEBTEDNESS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION.

As of September 28, 2003, our total indebtedness, including our preferred
securities, was $1,393 million, excluding unused commitments under the new
revolving credit facility, which represented approximately 61 percent of our
total capitalization. In addition, we and our subsidiaries will be able to incur
additional indebtedness in the future, subject to the terms of our existing and
future debt instruments.

Our level of indebtedness could have important consequences to you. For
example, it could:

- limit our ability to fund future working capital, capital expenditures and
other general corporate activities;

- require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our operating cash flow to
payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our
cash flow to fund other areas of our business;

— limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our
business and the industry in which we operate;

- make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in general economic
conditions or in our business;

— make it more difficult to satisfy our obligations under the notes,
including our repurchase obligation upon the occurrence of specified

change of control events; and

- increase our exposure to interest rate increases because a portion of our
borrowings is at variable rates.

SERVICING OUR DEBT OBLIGATIONS REQUIRES A SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF CASH, AND OUR
ABILITY TO GENERATE CASH DEPENDS ON MANY FACTORS BEYOND OUR CONTROL.

Our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations will depend on, among
other things, our future operating performance. Our future financial performance
will be affected by a range of economic,
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competitive, regulatory and business factors, many of which are beyond our
control, and we cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient
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cash flow from operations to enable us to service our indebtedness or fund our
other liquidity needs. If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from
operations to satisfy our debt obligations, including payments on the notes, we
may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or
restructuring our debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments
or seeking to raise additional capital. We cannot assure you that any
refinancing would be possible, that any assets could be sold, or, if sold, of
the timing of the sales or the amount of proceeds realized from those sales, or
that additional financing could be obtained on acceptable terms, if at all.

OUR DEBT AGREEMENTS CONTAIN COVENANTS THAT RESTRICT OUR OPERATIONS.
Among other things, the operating and financial restrictions and covenants

contained in our debt agreements, including the indenture governing the notes,
restrict, condition or prohibit us from:

incurring additional indebtedness and issuing preferred stock;

- paying dividends and making certain other restricted payments;

- creating liens;

- making investments;

- creating restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us;
- entering into sale and leaseback transactions;

- engaging in transactions with affiliates;

- merging or consolidating with any other person; or

- selling, assigning, leasing, conveying or otherwise transferring our
assets.

In addition, the new revolving credit facility contains financial and
operating covenants and prohibitions, including requirements that we maintain
certain financial ratios.

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our existing debt
agreements and any future financing agreements may adversely affect our ability
to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business
activities. Although we are currently in compliance with these operating and
financial restrictions and covenants, a breach of any of these restrictions or
covenants may result in an event of default under a particular debt instrument,
which could permit acceleration of the debt under that instrument and, in some
cases, the acceleration of debt under any other debt instrument that contains
cross—acceleration provisions. In an event of default, or in the event of a
cross—acceleration, we may not have sufficient funds available to make the
required payments under our indebtedness.

IF THE NOTES ARE RATED INVESTMENT GRADE AT ANY TIME BY BOTH STANDARD & POOR'S
AND MOODY'S, CERTAIN COVENANTS CONTAINED IN THE INDENTURE WILL BE SUSPENDED, AND
THE HOLDERS OF THE NOTES WILL LOSE THE PROTECTION OF THESE COVENANTS.

The indenture contains certain covenants that will be suspended and cease to
have any effect from and after the first date when the notes are rated
investment grade by both Standard & Poor's and Moody's. See "Description of the
Notes—-—-Certain Covenants—--Suspension of Covenants and Covenant Substitution".
These covenants restrict, among other things, our ability to pay dividends,
incur certain liens, incur additional debt and to enter into certain types of
transactions. Because we will not be subject to these restrictions when the
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notes are rated investment grade, we will be able to incur additional debt and
grant additional liens on our property. If after these covenants are suspended,
Standard & Poor's or Moody's were to downgrade their rating of the notes to a
non-investment grade level, the covenants would be reinstated and the holders of
the notes would again have the protection
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of these covenants. However, the notes would be effectively subordinated to any
liens incurred during such time as the notes were rated investment grade.

THE NOTES ARE GENERAL UNSECURED OBLIGATIONS.

The notes are our general unsecured obligations and are effectively
subordinated in right of payment to all of our secured indebtedness to the
extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. In the event of a
bankruptcy or similar proceeding involving us, our assets which serve as
collateral under our secured indebtedness would be made available to satisfy the
obligations under any secured debt before any payments are made on the notes.
Our obligations under the new revolving credit facility are secured by security
interests in substantially all of our assets and certain assets of our domestic
subsidiaries that guarantee obligations under the facility. See "Description of
Other Indebtedness——-New Revolving Credit Facility".

THE NOTES ARE OUR OBLIGATIONS AND NOT OBLIGATIONS OF OUR SUBSIDIARIES AND WILL
BE EFFECTIVELY SUBORDINATED TO THE CLAIMS OF OUR SUBSIDIARIES' CREDITORS.

The notes are our direct obligations and are not currently guaranteed by any
of our subsidiaries. As of September 28, 2003, our subsidiaries had
approximately $1,422 million of outstanding third-party liabilities and
approximately $2,915 million of our consolidated assets. In addition, a number
of our existing domestic subsidiaries are, to a certain extent, guaranteeing our
obligations under the new revolving credit facility but are not guaranteeing our
obligations with respect to the notes. The terms of the indenture governing the
notes and the terms of the 1986 Indenture (which governs a number of our other
notes and debentures) limit certain of these subsidiaries' indebtedness and
guarantees to 15 percent of our consolidated net tangible assets.

The indenture governing the notes requires that in the future certain of our
domestic subsidiaries that guarantee our or any subsidiary guarantors' other
indebtedness also guarantee the notes. However, this requirement to also
guarantee the notes only applies to subsidiaries that are designated as
"unrestricted subsidiaries" under the terms of the 1986 Indenture. Accordingly,
in the future, certain of our domestic subsidiaries will be required to
guarantee the new revolving credit facility without also guaranteeing the notes.
Further, the guarantee of the notes by a subsidiary that is also guaranteeing
the new revolving credit facility would rank equally with, and not prior to, the
applicable subsidiary's guarantee under the new revolving credit facility.

In addition, our right to receive any assets of any of our non-guarantor
subsidiaries upon their liquidation or reorganization, and therefore the right
of the holders of the notes to participate in those assets, will be effectively
subordinated to the claims of those subsidiaries' creditors, including
debtholders and trade creditors. This means that the holders of that debt would
have a claim prior to that of the holders of the notes with respect to the
assets of those subsidiaries. In addition, even if we were a creditor of any of
our non-guarantor subsidiaries, our rights as a creditor would be subordinate to
any security interest in the assets of those subsidiaries and any indebtedness
of those subsidiaries that is senior to the indebtedness we hold. While the
terms of our existing indebtedness, including the indenture governing the notes,
currently contain restrictions in the ability of our non-guarantor subsidiaries
to incur indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of
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Our cash flow and our ability to service our debt, including the notes,
depend partly upon the earnings of our subsidiaries. However, our subsidiaries
are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation to pay any
amounts due on the notes or to provide us with funds for our payment
obligations, whether by dividends, distributions, loans or other payments.
Payments to us by our subsidiaries will also be contingent upon our
subsidiaries' earnings and other business considerations. In addition, any
payment of dividends, distributions, loans or advances by our subsidiaries to us
could be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions.

20
FRAUDULENT TRANSFER LAWS MAY PERMIT A COURT TO TAKE ACTION DETRIMENTAL TO YOU.

Certain of our future domestic subsidiaries may guarantee the notes. If,
however, any subsidiary becomes a debtor in a case under the United States
Bankruptcy Code or encounters other financial difficulty, under Federal or state
fraudulent transfer law a court might:

- avoid all or a portion of such subsidiary guarantor's obligations to you;

- subordinate such subsidiary guarantor's obligations to you to other
existing and future indebtedness, entitling other creditors to be paid in
full before any payment is made on the related guarantee; and

- take other action detrimental to you, including, in certain circumstances,
invalidating the related guarantee.

The court might do so if it found that, when the subsidiary entered into its
guarantee (or, in some states, when payments became due thereunder), the
subsidiary guarantor:

— received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for
the guarantee; and

— either (1) was or was rendered insolvent, (2) was left with inadequate
capital to conduct its business or (3) believed or should have believed
that it would incur debts beyond its ability to pay.

The court might also avoid a subsidiary's guarantee, without regard to those
factors, if it found that the subsidiary entered into its guarantee with actual
intent to hinder, delay or defraud its creditors.

A court would likely find that a subsidiary did not receive reasonably
equivalent value or fair consideration for its guarantee unless it benefited
directly or indirectly from the notes' issuance. If a court avoided a guarantee,
you would no longer have a claim against the guarantor. In addition, the court
might direct you to repay any amounts already received from the guarantor. If
the court were to avoid any subsidiary's guarantee, we cannot assure you that
funds would be available to pay the notes from another subsidiary guarantor or
from any other source.

The test for determining solvency for these purposes will depend on the law
of the jurisdiction being applied. In general, a court would consider an entity
insolvent either if the sum of its existing debts exceeds the fair value of all
of its property or if the present fair saleable value of its assets is less than
the amount required to pay the probable liability on its existing debts as they
become due. For the analysis, "debts" includes contingent and unliquidated
debts.
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The indenture states that the liability of each subsidiary on its guarantee
is limited to the maximum amount that the subsidiary can incur without risk that
the guarantee will be subject to avoidance as a fraudulent transfer. We cannot
assure you that this limitation will protect any guarantees from fraudulent
transfer attack or, if it does, that any guarantees will be in amounts
sufficient, if necessary, to pay the notes when due.

WE MAY NOT HAVE THE ABILITY TO RAISE THE FUNDS NECESSARY TO FINANCE THE CHANGE
OF CONTROL OFFER REQUIRED BY THE NOTES INDENTURE.

Upon the occurrence of certain kinds of change of control events, we will be
required to offer to repurchase all our outstanding notes at 101% of the
principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date
of repurchase. Any change of control would constitute a default under the new
revolving credit facility. If a change of control were to occur, we cannot
assure you that we would have sufficient funds to pay the purchase price of the
outstanding notes, and we expect that we would require third party financing to
do so. Any requirements to offer to purchase any outstanding notes may require
us to refinance our existing indebtedness. In such an event, we cannot assure
you that we would be able to obtain additional financing or refinance our
existing indebtedness on favorable terms, if at all. See "Description of the
Notes—-—-Certain Covenants—--Change of Control".

21
YOUR RIGHT TO REQUIRE US TO REDEEM THE NOTES IS LIMITED.

The holders of notes have limited rights to require us to purchase or redeem
the notes in the event of a takeover, recapitalization or similar restructuring,
including an issuer recapitalization or similar transaction with management.
Consequently, the change of control provisions of the indenture governing the
notes will not afford any protection in a highly leveraged transaction,
including a transaction initiated by us, if such transaction does not result in
a change of control or otherwise result in an event of default under the
indenture. Accordingly, the change of control provision is likely to be of
limited effect in such situations.

IF YOU FAIL TO EXCHANGE YOUR ORIGINAL NOTES, THEY WILL CONTINUE TO BE RESTRICTED
SECURITIES AND MAY BECOME LESS LIQUID.

Original notes which you do not tender or we do not accept will, following
the exchange offer, continue to be restricted securities, and you may not offer
to sell them except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not
subject to, the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. We will
issue new notes in exchange for the original notes pursuant to the exchange
offer only following the satisfaction of the procedures and conditions set forth
in "The Exchange Offer--Procedures for Tendering". Such procedures and
conditions include timely receipt by the exchange agent of such original notes
and of a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal.

Because we anticipate that most holders of original notes will elect to
exchange such original notes, we expect that the liquidity of the market for any
original notes remaining after the completion of the exchange offer will be
substantially limited. Any original notes tendered and exchanged in the exchange
offer will reduce the aggregate principal amount at maturity of the original
notes outstanding. Following the exchange offer, if you did not tender your
original notes you generally will not have any further registration rights, and
such original notes will continue to be subject to certain transfer
restrictions. Accordingly, the liquidity of the market for such original notes
could be adversely affected.

WE MAY REDEEM THE NOTES AT OUR OPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY.
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The notes are redeemable, at our option and without your consent, in whole
or in part, at any time after December 1, 2006. If we exercise this option you
will receive the redemption price described under "Description of the
Notes—--Optional Redemption". Our decision to exercise this option will be
influenced by a range of factors including the availability of cash required to
redeem the notes, whether market conditions at the time are conducive to such a
refinancing and other considerations relevant to our future capital management.
If the notes are redeemed as a result of the optional redemption, you may not
obtain the return you expect to receive on the notes if you owned them until
maturity.

22
USE OF PROCEEDS

This exchange offer is intended to satisfy our obligations under the
registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of
the original notes. We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of
the new notes in the exchange offer. In consideration for issuing the new notes
as contemplated by this prospectus, we will receive the original notes in like
principal amount. The original notes surrendered and exchanged for the new notes
will be retired and canceled and cannot be reissued. Accordingly, the issuance
of the new notes will not result in any increase in our indebtedness or capital
stock.

23
THE EXCHANGE OFFER
PURPOSE OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER

In connection with the sale of the original notes, we entered into a
registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers, under which we agreed
to use our reasonable best efforts to file and have declared effective an
exchange offer registration statement under the Securities Act and to consummate
the exchange offer.

We are making the exchange offer in reliance on the position of the SEC as
set forth in certain no-action letters. However, we have not sought our own
no—-action letter. Based upon these interpretations by the SEC, we believe that a
holder of new notes, but not a holder who is our "affiliate" within the meaning
of Rule 405 of the Securities Act, who exchanges original notes for new notes in
the exchange offer, generally may offer the new notes for resale, sell the new
notes and otherwise transfer the new notes without further registration under
the Securities Act and without delivery of a prospectus that satisfies the
requirements of Section 10 of the Securities Act. This does not apply, however,
to a holder who is our "affiliate" within the meaning of Rule 405 of the
Securities Act. We also believe that a holder may offer, sell or transfer the
new notes only if the holder acquires the new notes in the ordinary course of
its business and is not participating, does not intend to participate and has no
arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution of
the new notes.

Any holder of the original notes using the exchange offer to participate in
a distribution of new notes cannot rely on the no-action letters referred to
above. A broker-dealer that acquired original notes directly from us, but not as
a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must comply
with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act
in the absence of an exemption from such requirements.

Each broker-dealer that receives new notes for its own account in exchange
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for original notes, as a result of market-making activities or other trading
activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection
with any resale of such new notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or
supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection
with resales of new notes received in exchange for original notes where such
original notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making
activities or other trading activities. The letter of transmittal states that by
acknowledging and delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be
considered to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the
Securities Act. We have agreed that for a period of 180 days after the
expiration date for the exchange offer, we will make this prospectus available
to broker-dealers for use in connection with any such resale. See "Plan of
Distribution".

Except as described above, this prospectus may not be used for an offer to
resell, resale or other transfer of new notes.

The exchange offer is not being made to, nor will we accept tenders for
exchange from, holders of original notes in any jurisdiction in which the
exchange offer or the acceptance of it would not be in compliance with the
securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdiction.

TERMS OF THE EXCHANGE

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the exchange offer, we will
accept any and all original notes validly tendered prior to 5:00 p.m., New York
City time, on the expiration date for the exchange offer. The date of acceptance
for exchange of the original notes, and completion of the exchange offer, is the
exchange date, which will be the first business day following the expiration
date (unless extended as described in this document). We will issue, on or
promptly after the exchange date, an aggregate principal amount of up to $250
million of new notes for a like principal amount of outstanding original notes
tendered and accepted in connection with the exchange offer. The new notes
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issued in connection with the exchange offer will be delivered on the earliest
practicable date following the exchange date. Holders may tender some or all of
their original notes in connection with the exchange offer, but only in $1,000
increments of principal amount at maturity.

The terms of the new notes will be identical in all material respects to the
terms of the original notes, except that the new notes will have been registered
under the Securities Act and are issued free from any covenant regarding
registration, including the payment of additional interest upon a failure to
file or have declared effective an exchange offer registration statement or to
complete the exchange offer by certain dates. The new notes will evidence the
same debt as the original notes and will be issued under the same indenture and
entitled to the same benefits under that indenture as the original notes being
exchanged. As of the date of this prospectus, $250 million in aggregate
principal amount of the original notes are outstanding.

In connection with the issuance of the original notes, we have arranged for
the original notes originally purchased by qualified institutional buyers and
those sold in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act to be issued and
transferable in book-entry form through the facilities of The Depository Trust
Company, acting as depositary. The new notes will be issued in the form of a
global note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and each beneficial
owner's interest in it will be transferable in book-entry form through DTC.

Holders of original notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters' rights in
connection with the exchange offer. Original notes which are not tendered for
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exchange or are tendered but not accepted in connection with the exchange offer
will remain outstanding and be entitled to the benefits of the indenture under
which they were issued, but, subject to certain limited exceptions, will not be
entitled to any registration rights under the registration rights agreement.

We shall be considered to have accepted validly tendered original notes if
and when we have given oral or written notice to the exchange agent. The
exchange agent will act as agent for the tendering holders for the purposes of
receiving the new notes from us.

If any tendered original notes are not accepted for exchange because of an
invalid tender, the occurrence of certain other events described in this
prospectus or otherwise, we will return the original notes, without expense, to
the tendering holder as quickly as possible after the expiration date.

Holders who tender original notes will not be required to pay brokerage
commissions or fees or, subject to the instructions in the letter of
transmittal, transfer taxes on exchange of original notes in connection with the
exchange offer. We will pay all charges and expenses, other than certain
applicable taxes described below, in connection with the exchange offer. See
"--Fees and Expenses".

EXPIRATION DATE; EXTENSIONS; AMENDMENTS

The expiration date for the exchange offer is 5:00 p.m., New York City time,
on , 2004, unless extended by us in our sole discretion (but in no
event to a date later than , 2004), in which case the term
"expiration date" shall mean the latest date and time to which the exchange
offer is extended.

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion:

- to delay accepting any original notes, to extend the offer or to terminate
the exchange offer if, in our reasonable judgment, any of the conditions
described below shall not have been satisfied, by giving oral or written
notice of the delay, extension or termination to the exchange agent; or

- to amend the terms of the exchange offer in any manner.
25

If we amend the exchange offer in a manner that we consider material, we
will disclose such amendment by means of a prospectus supplement, and we will
extend the exchange offer for a period of five to ten business days.

If we determine to make a public announcement of any delay, extension,
amendment or termination of the exchange offer, we will do so by making a timely
release through an appropriate news agency.

If we delay accepting any original notes or terminate the exchange offer, we
promptly will pay the consideration offered, or return any original notes
deposited, pursuant to the exchange offer as required by Rule 1l4e-1(c) under the
Exchange Act.

INTEREST ON THE NEW NOTES

Interest on the new notes will accrue at the rate of 9 1/2% per annum from
the most recent date to which interest on the new notes has been paid or, if no
interest has been paid, from the date of the indenture governing the notes.
Interest will be paid semiannually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of each
year.

31



Edgar Filing: CUMMINS INC - Form S-4/A

CONDITIONS TO THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Despite any other term of the exchange offer, we will not be required to
accept for exchange, or exchange new notes for, any original notes and may
terminate the exchange offer as provided in this prospectus before the
acceptance of the original notes, if prior to the expiration date:

— any action or proceeding is instituted or threatened in any court or by or
before any governmental agency relating to the exchange offer which, in
our reasonable judgment, might materially impair our ability to proceed
with the exchange offer or materially impair the contemplated benefits of
the exchange offer to us, or any material adverse development has occurred
in any existing action or proceeding relating to us or any of our
subsidiaries;

- any change, or any development involving a prospective change, in our
business or financial affairs or any of our subsidiaries has occurred
which, in our reasonable judgment, might materially impair our ability to
proceed with the exchange offer or materially impair the contemplated
benefits of the exchange offer to us;

- any law, statue, rule or regulation is proposed, adopted or enacted, which
in our reasonable judgment, might materially impair our ability to proceed
with the exchange offer or materially impair the contemplated benefits of
the exchange offer to us; or

- any governmental approval has not been obtained, which approval we, in our
reasonable discretion, consider necessary for the completion of the
exchange offer as contemplated by this prospectus.

The conditions listed above are for our sole benefit and may be asserted by
us regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any of these conditions. We
may waive these conditions in our reasonable discretion in whole or in part at
any time and from time to time prior to the expiration date. The failure by us
at any time to exercise any of the above rights shall not be considered a waiver
of such right, and such right shall be considered an ongoing right which may be
asserted at any time and from time to time.

If we determine in our reasonable discretion that any of the conditions are
not satisfied, we may:

- refuse to accept any original notes and return all tendered original notes
to the tendering holders;
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- extend the exchange offer and retain all original notes tendered before
the expiration of the exchange offer, subject, however, to the rights of
holders to withdraw these original notes

(see " —— Withdrawal of Tenders" below); or

- waive unsatisfied conditions relating to the exchange offer and accept all
properly tendered original notes which have not been withdrawn.

PROCEDURES FOR TENDERING

Unless the tender is being made in book-entry form, to tender in the
exchange offer, a holder must

- complete, sign and date the letter of transmittal, or a facsimile of it;

- have the signatures guaranteed if required by the letter of transmittal;
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and

- mail or otherwise deliver the letter of transmittal or the facsimile, the
original notes and any other required documents to the exchange agent
prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date.

Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC's Book-Entry Transfer
Facility system may make book-entry delivery of the original notes by causing
DTC to transfer the original notes into the exchange agent's account. Although
delivery of original notes may be effected through book-entry transfer into the
exchange agent's account at DTC, the letter of transmittal (or facsimile), with
any required signature guarantees and any other required documents, must, in any
case, be transmitted to and received or confirmed by the exchange agent at its
addresses set forth under the caption "Exchange Agent" below, prior to
5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. Delivery of documents to
DTC in accordance with its procedures does not constitute delivery to the
exchange agent.

The tender by a holder of original notes will constitute an agreement
between us and the holder in accordance with the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal.

The method of delivery of original notes and the letter of transmittal and
all other required documents to the exchange agent is at the election and risk
of the holders. Instead of delivery by mail, we recommend that holders use an
overnight or hand delivery service. In all cases, holders should allow
sufficient time to assure delivery to the exchange agent before the expiration
date. No letter of transmittal of original notes should be sent to us. Holders
may request their respective brokers, dealers, commercial banks, trust companies
or nominees to effect the tenders for such holders.

Any beneficial owner whose original notes are registered in the name of a
broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and who wishes
to tender should contact the registered holder promptly and instruct such
registered holder to tender on behalf of the beneficial owner. If the beneficial
owner wishes to tender on that owner's own behalf, the owner must, prior to
completing and executing the letter of transmittal and delivery of such owner's
original notes, either make appropriate arrangements to register ownership of
the original notes in the owner's name or obtain a properly completed bond power
from the registered holder. The transfer of registered ownership may take
considerable time.

Signature on a letter of transmittal or a notice of withdrawal must be
guaranteed by an eligible guarantor institution within the meaning of
Rule 17Ad-15 under the Exchange Act, unless the original notes tendered pursuant
thereto are tendered:

- by a registered holder who has not completed the box entitled "Special
Issuance Instructions" or "Special Delivery Instructions" on the letter of
transmittal; or
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— for the account of an eligible guarantor institution.

In the event that signatures on a letter or transmittal or a notice of
withdrawal are required to be guaranteed, such guarantee must be by:

- a member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.;

- a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in
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the United States; or
- an "eligible guarantor institution".

If the letter of transmittal is signed by a person other than the registered
holder of any original notes, the original notes must be endorsed by the
registered holder or accompanied by a properly completed bond power, in each
case signed or endorsed in blank by the registered holder.

If the letter of transmittal or any original notes or bond powers are signed
or endorsed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorney-in-fact,
officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative
capacity, such persons should so indicate when signing and, unless waived by us,
submit evidence satisfactory to us of their authority to act in that capacity
with the letter of transmittal.

We will determine all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility
(including time of receipt) and acceptance and withdrawal of tendered original
notes in our sole discretion. We reserve the absolute right to reject any and
all original notes not properly tendered or any original notes whose acceptance
by us would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve the
right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to any
particular original notes either before or after the expiration date. Our
interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offer (including the
instructions in the letter of transmittal) will be final and binding on all
parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders
of original notes must be cured within a time period we will determine. Although
we intend to request the exchange agent to notify holders of defects or
irregularities relating to tenders of original notes, neither we, the exchange
agent nor any other person will have any duty or incur any liability for failure
to give such notification. Tenders of original notes will not be considered to
have been made until such defects or irregularities have been cured or waived.
Any original notes received by the exchange agent that are not properly tendered
and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been cured or waived will
be returned by the exchange agent to the tendering holders, unless otherwise
provided in the letter of transmittal, as soon as practicable following the
expiration date.

In addition, we reserve the right, as set forth above under the caption
"--Conditions to the Exchange Offer", to terminate the exchange offer.

By tendering, each holder represents to us, among other things, that:

— the new notes acquired in connection with the exchange offer are being
obtained in the ordinary course of business of the person receiving the
new notes, whether or not such person is the holder;

— neither the holder nor any such other person has an arrangement or
understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of such

new notes; and

— neither the holder nor any such other person is our "affiliate" (as
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act).

If the holder is a broker-dealer which will receive new notes for its own
account in exchange for original notes, it will acknowledge that it acquired
such original notes as the result of market-making
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activities or other trading activities and it will deliver a prospectus in
connection with any resale of such new notes. See "Plan of Distribution".
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GUARANTEED DELIVERY PROCEDURES
A holder who wishes to tender its original notes and:
— whose original notes are not immediately available;

- who cannot deliver the holder's original notes, the letter of transmittal
or any other required documents to the exchange agent prior to the
expiration date; or

- who cannot complete the procedures for book-entry transfer before the
expiration date;

may effect a tender if
- the tender is made through an eligible guarantor institution;

— before the expiration date, the exchange agent receives from the eligible
guarantor institution:

- a properly completed and duly executed notice of guaranteed delivery by
facsimile transmission, mail or hand delivery,

- the name and address of the holder, and

— the certificate number(s) of the original notes and the principal
amount at maturity of original notes tendered, stating that the tender
is being made and guaranteeing that, within three New York Stock
Exchange trading days after the expiration date, the letter of
transmittal and the certificate(s) representing the original notes (or
a confirmation of book-entry transfer), and any other documents
required by the letter of transmittal will be deposited by the eligible
guarantor institution with the exchange agent; and

- the exchange agent receives, within three New York Stock Exchange trading
days after the expiration date, a properly completed and executed letter
of transmittal or facsimile, as well as the certificate(s) representing
all tendered original notes in proper form for transfer or a confirmation
of book-entry transfer, and all other documents required by the letter of
transmittal.

WITHDRAWAL OF TENDERS

Except as otherwise provided herein, tenders of original notes may be
withdrawn at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration
date.

To withdraw a tender of original notes in connection with the exchange
offer, a written facsimile transmission notice of withdrawal must be received by
the exchange agent at its address set forth herein prior to 5:00 p.m., New York
City time, on the expiration date. Any such notice of withdrawal must:

- specify the name of the person who deposited the original notes to be
withdrawn;

— identify the original notes to be withdrawn (including the certificate
number or numbers and principal amount at maturity of such original
notes) ;

- be signed by the depositor in the same manner as the original signature on
the letter of transmittal by which such original notes were tendered
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(including any required signature guarantees) or be accompanied by
documents or transfer sufficient to have the trustee register the transfer
of such original notes into the name of the person withdrawing the tender;
and

- specify the name in which any such original notes are to be registered, if
different from that of the depositor.
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We will determine all questions as to the validity, form and eligibility
(including time of receipt) of such withdrawal notices. Any original notes so
withdrawn will be considered not to have been validly tendered for purposes of
the exchange offer, and no new notes will be issued unless the original notes
withdrawn are validly re-tendered. Any original notes which have been tendered
but which are not accepted for exchange or which are withdrawn will be returned
to the holder without cost to such holder as soon as practicable after
withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of the exchange offer. Properly
withdrawn original notes may be re-tendered by following one of the procedures
described above under the caption "--Procedures for Tendering" at any time prior
to the expiration date.

EXCHANGE AGENT

BNY Midwest Trust Company has been appointed as exchange agent in connection
with the exchange offer. Questions and requests for assistance, requests for
additional copies of this prospectus or of the letter of transmittal should be
directed to the exchange agent at its offices at 101 Barclay Street, 7 East New
York, NY 10286, attention Corporate Trust Operations Reorganization Unit. The
exchange agent's telephone number is (212) 815-6331 and facsimile number is
(212) 298-1915.

FEES AND EXPENSES

We will not make any payment to brokers, dealers or others soliciting
acceptances of the exchange offer. We will pay certain other expenses to be
incurred in connection with the exchange offer, including the fees and expenses
of the exchange agent and certain accounting and legal fees.

Holders who tender their original notes for exchange will not be obligated
to pay transfer taxes. If, however:

- new notes are to be delivered to, or issued in the name of, any person
other than the registered holder of the original notes tendered; or

- if tendered original notes are registered in the name of any person other
than the person signing the letter of transmittal; or

- if a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of
original notes in connection with the exchange offer;

then the amount of any such transfer taxes (whether imposed on the registered
holder or any other persons) will be payable by the tendering holder. If
satisfactory evidence of payment of such taxes or exemption from them is not
submitted with the letter of transmittal, the amount of such transfer taxes will
be billed directly to the tendering holder.

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT
The new notes will be recorded at the same carrying value as the original

notes as reflected in our accounting records on the date of the exchange.
Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon
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the completion of the exchange offer. The expenses of the exchange offer that we
pay will increase our deferred financing costs in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

CONSEQUENCES OF FAILURES TO PROPERLY TENDER ORIGINAL NOTES IN THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Issuance of the new notes in exchange for the original notes in the exchange
offer will be made only after timely receipt by the exchange agent of such
original notes, a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and
all other required documents. Therefore, holders of the original notes desiring
to tender such original notes in exchange for new notes should allow sufficient
time to ensure timely delivery. We are under no duty to give notification of
defects or irregularities of tenders of
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original notes for exchange. Original notes that are not tendered or that are
tendered but not accepted by us will, following completion of the exchange
offer, continue to be subject to the existing restrictions upon transfer thereof
under the Securities Act, and, upon completion of the exchange offer, certain
registered rights under the registration rights agreement will terminate.

In the event the exchange offer is completed, we will not be required to
register the remaining original notes. Remaining original notes will continue to
be subject to the following restrictions on transfer:

— the remaining original notes may be resold only if registered pursuant to
the Securities Act, if any exemption from registration is available, or if
neither such registration nor such exemption is required by law; and

— the remaining original notes will bear a legend restricting transfer in
the absence of registration or an exemption.

We do not currently anticipate that we will register the remaining original
notes under the Securities Act. To the extent that original notes are tendered
and accepted in connection with the exchange offer, any trading market for
remaining original notes could be adversely affected. See "Risk Factors——-Risks
Relating to the Notes--If you fail to exchange your original notes, they will
continue to be restricted securities and may become less liquid".
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SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents our selected historical financial data. The
selected financial data for the three years ended December 31, 2002 and as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001 have been derived from our audited Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. The financial
information for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 and as of
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 has been derived from our previously issued
financial statements for those years adjusted for the impact of the restatement
adjustments discussed in Note 2 of our audited Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this prospectus. The selected financial data for the nine-
month periods ended September 28, 2003 and September 29, 2002 and as of
September 28, 2003 and September 29, 2002 have been derived from our unaudited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. We have
prepared our unaudited consolidated financial statements on the same basis as
our audited consolidated financial statements and have included all adjustments,
including all normal recurring adjustments, that we consider necessary for a
fair presentation of our financial position and operating results for the
unaudited periods. The results for the nine months ended September 28, 2003 are
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year

37



Edgar Filing: CUMMINS INC - Form S-4/A

ending December 31, 2003. This table should be read in conjunction with
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto
included elsewhere in this prospectus.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS DATA:

Net salesS. .ottt it i $5,853 $5,681 $6,597 $6,639 $6,266
Special charges (1) ...t iennnnnn. - - - - 92
GrOSS MArgiN. e v e ettt eeeeeeeoneeeeeeens 1,045 1,013 1,267 1,392 1,243
Restructuring, asset impairment and other

charges (credits) (2)(3) (4)(5)......... (8) 126 154 56 118
Loss on early extinguishment of debt

(B) ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e 8 - - - -
Interest expense (9) ....ii i 61 77 87 75 72
Dividends on preferred securities (9).... 21 11 —— —— ——
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle, net of tax (7).............. 3 —= —= —— ——
Net earnings (lOSS) «vvv vttt ineeeeeeeennnn 82 (103) 14 132 (23)
Net earnings (loss) per share:
2= T o 1 2.13 (2.70) 0.35 3.43 (0.59)
Diluted. vttt e e e 2.13 (2.70) 0.35 3.41 (0.59)
Dividends declared per share............. 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.13 (1.10)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 -
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE)

OTHER DATA:
Property, plant and equipment

additions........ .o, $ 90 S 206 $ 228 $ 215 S 271 S
Consolidated ratio of earnings
to fixed charges (8).......... 1.5 —— 1.0 2.6 ——

BALANCE SHEET DATA (AS OF PERIOD

END) :
Working capital................. $ 653 $ 557 $ 589 $ 822 S 792 S
Property, plant and equipment,

oL 1,305 1,405 1,596 1,624 1,666
Total assetsS. v ettt eennn 4,837 4,311 4,448 4,629 4,535
Long-term debt.................. 999 915 1,032 1,092 1,137
Mandatorily redeemable preferred

securities........ . i 291 291 - - -
Shareholders' investment........ 841 983 1,280 1,365 1,265
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(1) In 1998, we recorded special charges of $92 million for product coverage
cost and inventory write-downs.
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(2) The years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, includes restructuring,
asset impairment and other charges of $(8) million, $126 million and
$154 million, respectively. These charges are more fully discussed in
Note 7 of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in
this registration statement.

(3) The nine months ended September 29, 2002 includes restructuring, asset
impairment and other charges of $2 million. This charge is more fully
discussed in Note 3 of our interim unaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(4) The year ended December 31, 1999 includes restructuring, asset impairment
and other charges of $56 million primarily related to the dissolution of the
Cummins Wartsila Jjoint wventure.

(5) The year ended December 31, 1998 includes restructuring, asset impairment
and other charges of $118 million primarily related to a worldwide workforce
reduction and a $25 million penalty paid to the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency regarding diesel engine emissions.

(6) The year ended December 31, 2002 includes a charge of $8 million related to
a loss on the early extinguishment of debt. This charge is more fully
discussed in Note 8 of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7) The year ended December 31, 2002 and the nine months ended September 29,
2002 includes income of $3 million related to a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principles. This matter is more fully discussed in
Note 1 of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements.

(8) For purposes of calculating the consolidated ratios of earnings to fixed
charges "earnings" include income before income taxes, extraordinary items,
the cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles and earnings or
losses of equity investees and fixed charges. "Fixed charges" consist of
interest on all indebtedness, including interest incurred by consolidated
companies, the amount of pre-tax earnings required to pay dividends on
outstanding preferred stock and that portion of rental expense that
management believes to be representative of interest. Our earnings were
insufficient to cover fixed charges for the years ended December 31, 2001
and 1998 by approximately $135 million and $17 million, respectively as well
as for the nine months ended September 28, 2003 by approximately
$5 million.

(9) As of July 1, 2003, dividends on our preferred securities are classified as
interest expense due to the adoption of SFAS 150. Sec Note 1 of our interim
unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESTATEMENT OF AUDITED FINANCIALS

On April 14, 2003, we announced that we had determined that our previously
issued financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001 would
require restatement and reaudit. The restatement was necessary to correct prior
period accounting errors related primarily to unreconciled accounts payable
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accounts at two of our manufacturing locations, the majority of which were
associated with the integration of a new enterprise resource planning system
into our accounting processes. We were required to have these restated financial
statements audited by our current auditors, since Arthur Andersen LLP, our
predecessor auditor for the years subject to restatement, had ceased operations.

The restatement and reaudit of our financial statements included a
comprehensive review of the accounting records underlying our financial
statements for the related periods. The accompanying financial statements
reflect adjustments made to our previously reported information as a result of
this comprehensive review and the work performed during the restatement and
reaudit process in order to correct accounting errors primarily associated with
the period of accounting recognition.

The discussion that follows reflects the effects of these restatement
adjustments. For details regarding the restatement refer to Note 2 of our
audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 2 of our unaudited
consolidated financial statements each included elsewhere in this prospectus.

In addition, in connection with the preparation of our 2003 Consolidated
Financial Statements, we became aware of certain isolated matters that were
treated incorrectly in the restatement of our pre-2002 Consolidated Financial
Statements. The cumulative effect of these matters resulted in a $2.7 million
understatement of retained earnings as of December 31, 2002. The amount of the
understatement was not material to our historical financial statements nor to
our expected full year 2003 financial statements. As a result, our Consolidated
Statement of Earnings for the first quarter of 2003 includes $3.6 million
pre-tax income, ($2.7 million after tax and $0.07 per share) to correct this
matter. The corrections are classified in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings
based upon the classification of the original transactions. Approximately
$2.0 million of the correction is recorded in cost of goods sold, $0.2 million
in selling and administrative expenses and $1.4 million in other (income)
expense, net. Our Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the first quarter of
2003 differ by these amounts from the Consolidated Statements of Earnings
included in our Form 8-K furnished April 17, 2003.

As a result of the restatement and reaudit, we delayed the filing of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, and our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2003, with the
SEC. As previously disclosed, the delay in filing resulted in a breach of a
requirement for timely satisfaction of SEC filing obligations under several of
our credit agreements, the most significant of which are discussed below. A
majority of our long-term debt is governed by three Indenture agreements
summarized as follows:

— A November 20, 2002 Indenture between the Company and BNY Midwest Trust
Company as trustee for $250 million in 9.5% senior notes;

- A June 18, 2001 Indenture between the Company and BNY Midwest Trust
Company as trustee for $300 million in 7% convertible preferred
securities; and

- A March 1, 1986 Indenture between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank
(formerly The Chase Manhattan Bank) for four series of securities with an
aggregate value of $765 million.

Under each of the Indentures, we are required to deliver to the respective
Trustees a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K within specified periods of
time after such filings are due (March 31, 2003). The breach caused by the delay
in filing our Annual Report on Form 10-K gave certain rights to the Trustees and
debt holders under the Indentures to accelerate maturity of our indebtedness if
they
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give us notice and we do not cure the breach within 60 days. However, neither
the Trustees nor the respective debt holders have given us such notice. As a
result, we continue to classify our debt as long-term in our Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position.

In connection with the 2002 Indenture, we agreed to file this exchange offer
registration statement with the SEC and complete the offer no later than
May 19, 2003. As a result of the delay in filing our Annual Report on Form 10-K
with the SEC, we were unable to complete the exchange offer and became
contractually obligated to pay an additional 0.25% per annum interest on the
notes issued under the Indenture. We also were not able to complete the exchange
offer within 90 days of May 19, 2003 which resulted in another 0.25% per annum
increase on our interest obligation of the notes. For each 90-day delay in the
completion of the exchange offer, the interest rate on the notes will increase
by an additional 0.25% per annum up to a 1% maximum increase until such time as
the exchange offer is completed.

In connection with the 2001 Indenture governing the issue of our 7%
convertible preferred securities, we exercised our right to suspend the use of
the resale prospectus, which is part of a shelf registration statement that we
had filed and had declared effective to permit the resale of these securities,
pending the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K with the SEC. Effective
March 31, 2003, this suspension resulted in an increase of 0.5% per annum in the
dividend rate borne by these securities. As of June 2003, we are no longer
obligated to pay the 0.5% per annum increase because our obligations under the
registration rights agreement we entered into in connection with the issuance of
the 7% convertible preferred securities have expired.

In November 2002, we entered into a new credit facility agreement that
provides for aggregate borrowings of up to $385 million and is available on a
revolving basis for a period of three years. The agreement requires that we
annually deliver audited financial statements to the lenders within a specified
period of time. As a result of the restatement and reaudit process, we received
a waiver from our lenders through November 30, 2003 of any breach due to a delay
in the delivery of our audited financial statements. There were no amounts
outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2002.

By filing our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the first quarter ended March 30, 2003 with the SEC and by
delivering a copy of these filings to the Trustees of the Indentures and to our
lenders under our credit facility, we have cured the noncompliance under the
abovementioned Indentures and comply with the terms of the credit facility. We
expect to satisfy our registration obligations relating to the 2002 Indenture in
the near term, following which the incremental interest and dividend payments
will be discontinued.

OVERVIEW

Our net earnings for the third quarter 2003 were $24 million, or $0.60 per
share, compared to net earnings of $44 million, or $1.05 per share a year ago.
FEarnings from each of our four business segments declined in the third quarter
2003 compared to a year ago. Last year, results of our Engine Business segment
benefited from accelerated purchases of heavy-duty engines prior to the new
October 1, 2002 emissions standards. This year our Power Generation business
reached breakeven results during the third quarter while results at our
Filtration and Other Business and our International Distributor Business were
slightly below earnings reported last year. On a year-to-date basis, our net
earnings were $7 million compared to net earnings of $36 million in 2002. The
decline in earnings for the third quarter and nine months of 2003 compared to
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2002 is primarily attributable to lower sales volume in our heavy-duty engine
business, increased pension and postretirement benefits, up $26 million and
higher interest expense resulting from increases in our borrowing rates and debt
levels. Interest expense, including dividends on our preferred securities is up
$5 million in the third quarter 2003 compared to 2002 and is up $16 million for
the first nine months of 2003.

Worldwide net sales in the third quarter of 2003 were $1.634 billion,
slightly below sales levels of $1.648 billion in the third quarter of 2002.
Sales in each of our four businesses increased during the
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third quarter 2003 compared to 2002 with the exception of the Engine Business.
Sales in the Engine Business were down $91 million, or 9 percent compared to a
year ago reflecting the favorable impact of the October 2002 pre-buy activity.
Power Generation sales were up $48 million, or 15 percent, Filtration and Other
sales were up $19 million, or 8 percent, and International Distributor sales
increased $22 million, or 14 percent. Net sales for the first nine months of
2003 were $4.560 billion, up $121 million, or 3 percent, compared to sales of
$4.439 billion in the first nine months of 2002 with increases across all of our
segments except the Engine Business.

Our net earnings for 2002 were $82 million, or $2.13 per share, on sales of
$5.85 billion, compared to a net loss of $103 million or ($2.70) per share on
sales of $5.68 billion for the prior year. Results for 2002, however, included a
pre-tax credit of $8 million for costs associated with restructuring actions, an
$8 million pre-tax charge related to early extinguishment of debt and a
$3 million after-tax credit for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle. Net earnings for 2002 also reflect a one-time $57 million favorable
tax adjustment related to the settlement of income tax audits for the years 1994
through 1999. In comparison, our 2001 loss of $103 million included a net after
tax charge of $84 million related to restructuring actions. In 2000, our net
earnings were $14 million, or $0.35 per share, on sales of $6.60 billion and
also included a net after tax charge of $100 million for restructuring actions.

NET SALES
NET SALES SUMMARY

Net sales for each of our key business segments during the comparative
interim periods follow:

THIRD QUARTER

SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28

NINE MONTHS

2003 2002 2003

(IN MILLIONS)

o e T o Y= S 942 $1,033 $2
Power Generation..........iiiiiiiineneeeennnn 363 315
Filtration and Other........ ... .. 255 236
International Distributor................... 174 152
Elimination of intersegment revenue......... (100) (88)

$1,634 $1,648 $4

, 647

937
774
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Net sales for the Engine Business were $942 million in the third quarter
2003, down $91 million, or 9 percent, compared to net sales in the third quarter
of 2002. Most of the sales decrease is heavy-duty truck related as discussed
below. Sales in the Power Generation Business were $363 million, up
$48 million, or 15 percent compared to a year ago. Sales of the Filtration and
Other Business were $255 million, an increase of $19 million, or 8 percent,
compared to 2002, reflecting improvement in original equipment manufacturers
(OEMs) and aftermarket demand. Sales of the International Distributor Business
were $174 million, up $22 million, or 14 percent, compared to third quarter 2002
sales, reflecting strong improvement in parts, service and power generator
sales.

On a year-to-date basis, Engine Business sales were down $12 million, or
less than 1 percent, primarily automotive related, as industrial engine sales
increased 1 percent. Power Generation sales were up $35 million, or 4 percent,
primarily due to strong third quarter sales. Sales of the Filtration and Other
business were up $67 million, or 9 percent, in the nine months of 2003 compared
to a year earlier reflecting some improvement in demand and increased market
share. International Distributor sales were up $58 million, or 14 percent,
year-over-year with modest improvement in engine, parts and service sales across
most geographic regions.
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The table below sets forth net sales for each of our key business segments
during the last three years:

(IN MILLIONS)

15 0L o = $3,435 $3,121
PoWer GeNeratiomn. @i it ittt ittt et ettt ettt e et eaeeaeeens 1,226 1,422
Filtration and Other. ... it ittt e ettt e 951 889
International Distributor........ ..ttt eeneeeennnn 574 562
Elimination of intersegment sales........c.c.oiiiiiiteennnnnnnn (333) (313)

$5,853 $5,681

Sales increased in all of our business segments during 2002 compared to 2001
with the exception of our Power Generation Business. Sales of our Engine
Business increased $314 million, or 10 percent, primarily reflecting strong
demand in the heavy-duty truck sector in advance of the October 1, 2002 EPA
emissions deadline and higher sales for the Dodge Ram truck. The October 1, 2002
EPA emissions deadline was directly related to a 1998 EPA consent decree which
required us and other diesel engine manufacturers to "pull ahead" new emissions
standards that were scheduled for implementation on January 1, 2004 to
October 1, 2002. Our two heavy-duty engines (ISX and ISM), compete directly
against diesel engines produced by other manufacturers who participated in the
consent decree. However, one manufacturer who did not participate in the consent
decree gained a competitive advantage by introducing a new, non-compliant engine
into the heavy-duty truck market during this time. As the fifteen month "pull
ahead" period has nearly ended, the majority of the financial impact from the
acceleration of the new standards has already been reflected in our quarterly
and annual financial statements. Power Generation sales were $1,226 million,
down $196 million, or 14 percent compared to the prior year, as a result of
lower demand from slow economic activity. Sales in the Filtration and Other
Business were $951 million, up $62 million or 7 percent year-over-year,
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reflecting demand improvement and increased market penetration. In our
International Distributor Business, sales increased $12 million, or 2 percent,
compared to 2001, primarily due to increased business at our distributors in
Australia and Asia.

Net sales for 2001 were $5.68 billion, $916 million lower than 2000. The
decrease was primarily due to lower engine sales, down $929 million, or
23 percent as a result of reduced shipments to North American OEMs which were
affected by the sharp downturn in the North American automotive industry and
construction markets.

GROSS MARGIN

Our gross margin was $293 million, or 17.9 percent of net sales, in the
third quarter of 2003, compared to $313 million, or 19.0 percent of net sales,
in the third quarter of 2002. The overall decline in gross margin percent is
primarily driven by a decrease in the margins of our Engine Business, down
0.9 percent compared to the prior year's quarter. Third quarter 2002 margins
were favorably impacted by higher volumes and the sales mix of heavy-duty
engines in the pre-buy period prior to the October 1, 2002 new emissions
standards. Heavy-duty engines sold during the pre-buy period were mature
products with a lower cost structure and in conjunction with the increased
pre-buy volumes resulted in a higher absorption of fixed manufacturing costs
compared to the current quarter. Our new emission compliant engines, which began
shipping in the fourth quarter of 2003, have typically lower margins during
introduction. In addition, market demand for heavy-duty engines was adversely
impacted by the higher volumes of the 2002 pre-buy period which resulted in
lower production volumes in 2003 and lower absorption of manufacturing costs in
our plants. Increases in pension and postretirement benefits expense also had a
negative impact on our margins in the third quarter.

Product coverage costs were $54 million, or 3.3 percent of net sales, in the
third quarter 2003, compared to $59 million, or 3.6 percent of net sales, a year
ago. Most of the decline in product
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coverage expense quarter-over—-quarter was directly related to lower sales
volumes of heavy-duty engines. Excluding product coverage costs, gross margin
for the quarter was $347 million, or 21.2 percent of net sales, compared to
$372 million, or 22.6 percent of net sales, in the third quarter last year.

Gross margin for the first nine months of 2003 was $787 million, or
17.3 percent of net sales, compared to $823 million, or 18.5 percent of net
sales, in the first nine months of 2002. The decline in gross margin percent
year-over-year 1is primarily attributable to the higher sales mix of new
emissions compliant engines that experience lower margins during product
introduction, lower volumes resulting in under absorption of fixed manufacturing
costs and higher pension and postretirement benefits expense.

Our gross margin was $1.05 billion in 2002, $1.01 billion in 2001 and
$1.27 billion in 2000 with related gross margin percent of net sales of
17.9 percent, 17.8 percent, and 19.2 percent, respectively. Compared to the
prior year, gross margin in 2002 was relatively flat on a net sales increase of
$172 million, reflecting changes in sales mix as we transitioned from mature
engines to new engines where margins are typically lower at introduction. We
expect our gross margin on the new emissions compliant engine models to remain
essentially flat when compared to the pre-emission engines as the effect of
pricing on the new engine models was offset by incremental costs of new
components and higher product coverage costs. However, gross margin percent will
appear lower as the flat or unchanged gross margin amount will now be measured
against a higher sales value due to the pricing action. In addition, our margins
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were also affected by lower fixed cost absorption in our Power Generation
business due to a significant sales decline as a result of weak power generation
demand. Product coverage costs were flat year over year at 3.4 percent in 2002
and 2001. The most significant factors affecting the decline in gross margin and
gross margin percentage from 2000 to 2001 was lower absorption of fixed
manufacturing costs in our Engine Business as a result of declining sales
volume. In addition, gross margin was also impacted by changes in sales mix
partially offset by our cost reduction efforts and lower product coverage costs,
3.4 percent in 2001 compared to 4.1 percent in 2000.

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Total selling and administrative expenses were $208 million, or 13 percent
of net sales, in the third quarter 2003 compared to $189 million, or 12 percent
of net sales, in the third quarter 2002. Approximately $11 million of the
increase was related to selling expenses and $8 million was related to
administrative expenses. The increase in selling expenses is primarily
attributable to funding of growth initiatives in our filtration business
($4 million), increased compensation expense from incremental sales staffing
($2 million), the impact of unfavorable exchange rate differences ($4 million),
increased pension expense ($6 million) and other volume variable items that
individually are not material. The increase in administrative expenses resulted
from increased software amortization ($2 million), legal settlements
($1 million) and other items that individually are not material.

Selling and administrative expenses during the first nine months of 2003
were $603 million, or 13 percent of sales, compared to $564 million, or
13 percent of sales, in the first nine months of 2002. The majority of the
increase is attributable to a number of factors, including funding of growth
initiatives, primarily in the filtration business ($8 million), the impact of
changes in exchange rates ($8 million), increased audit fees ($7 million),
increased pension expense ($11 million) and other items.

Selling and administrative expenses were $736 million in 2002, an increase
of $15 million, or 2 percent, compared to spending levels a year ago. The
increase in selling and administrative expenses year-over-year is primarily a
result of volume variable expenditures, funding of focused growth initiatives
and higher variable compensation expense due to improved earnings, partially
offset by cost reduction actions.
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Selling and administrative expenses in 2001 were $721 million, down
$52 million or 7 percent compared to 2000 expenses. A majority of the decrease
resulted from our cost reduction efforts, including benefits of restructuring
actions and lower spending across all of our business segments.

RESEARCH AND ENGINEERING EXPENSES

Total research and engineering expenses were $51 million, or 3 percent of
net sales, in the third quarter 2003 compared to $53 million, or 3 percent of
net sales, last year. Most of the decrease is a result of completing a majority
of the development work on our new emission compliant heavy-duty engines in 2002
and reduced spending on new midrange products introduced last year.

Research and engineering expenses during the first nine months of 2003 were
$148 million, or 3 percent of sales, compared to $164 million, or 4 percent of
net sales, in the first nine months of 2002. A majority of the decrease is
attributable to completion of development work on our 2002 emissions compliant
products and reduced spending associated with funding pre-production research on
engines produced by our European Engine Alliance (EEA) Jjoint wventure.
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Research and engineering expenses in 2002 were $201 million, a decrease of
$19 million or 9 percent, compared to 2001 expenses. Overall, research and
engineering expenses were lower due to cancellation of a major engine
development program in the second quarter of 2001 and other cost reduction
actions, partially offset by higher engineering costs related to the development
of our 2002 emissions products.

Research and engineering expenses in 2001 were $220 million, down
$26 million, or 11 percent, compared to 2000. The decline is primarily a result
of on-going cost reduction efforts and the discontinuance of a new engine
development program.

INCOME FROM JOINT VENTURES AND ALLIANCES

Our earnings from joint ventures and alliances were $20 million in the third
quarter 2003, compared to $9 million a year ago. On a year-to-date basis
earnings from Jjoint ventures and alliances were $44 million in the first nine
months of 2003, compared to $16 million in the first nine months of 2002, or a
$28 million improvement. The increase in quarter-over—-quarter and year-over-year
results from improved earnings at most of our joint ventures, primarily domestic
distributorships and a significant increase from our recently expanded joint
venture in China, Dongfeng Cummins Engine Co. Ltd., a supplier to China's second
largest truck manufacturer.

Our income from joint ventures and alliances was $22 million in 2002,
compared to $10 million of income in 2001. The increase is primarily
attributable to improved earnings across most of our joint ventures,
particularly our joint ventures with China National Heavy-duty Truck Corporation
in Chongging, which manufactures heavy-duty and high-horsepower diesel engines
and Dongfeng Motors, which manufactures our B and C Series midrange engines.
Earnings at our partially owned distributor locations in North America and our
new marine joint venture, Cummins Mercruiser, also contributed to the increase
in 2002.

Earnings from joint ventures and alliances were $10 million in 2001 compared
to $7 million in 2000. The increase in income is attributable to improved
earnings from our joint ventures in China offset by lower earnings from our
joint venture with Komatsu.

RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS

We have continued a restructuring program initiated in 1998 to improve our
cost structure. During 2002, we recorded a net $8 million credit related to
restructuring actions comprised of a net $2 million charge in the second quarter
and a reversal of $10 million of excess restructuring accruals in the fourth
quarter. The second quarter charge of $2 million was comprised of a $16 million
charge for restructuring actions taken that quarter reduced by $14 million of
reversals. The second and fourth quarter reversals included 2001 and 2000
restructuring actions that were realigned or cancelled and the
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fourth quarter reversal included $3 million from a charge originally recorded in
2000 and a $1 million reversal of the 2002 accrual.

During 2001 and 2000, we recorded restructuring charges of $126 million and
$154 million, respectively, that were directly related to the downturn in the
North American heavy-duty truck market and several other end-markets. These
actions were necessary to achieve lower production costs, improve operating
efficiencies, and enhance management effectiveness under difficult economic
conditions. The charges included staffing reorganizations and reductions in
various business segments, asset impairment write-downs for manufacturing
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equipment, facility closure and consolidation costs, cancellation of a new
engine development program and other exit costs related to small business
operations.

Note 7 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended
2002, 2001 and 2000 included elsewhere in this prospectus (the "Consolidated
Financial Statements") includes schedules that present by major cost component
and by year of expense, activities related to restructuring actions for the
years 2000 through 2002, including adjustments to the original charges. As of
December 31, 2002, all activities associated with our 2001 and 2000
restructuring actions are completed. A discussion of our restructuring actions
during this period follows:

2002 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS

In the second quarter 2002, we announced further restructuring actions
precipitated by weak market conditions, related primarily to our Engine and
Power Generation Businesses and recorded additional restructuring charges of
$16 million. The charges included $11 million attributable to workforce
reduction actions, $3 million for asset impairments and $2 million related to
facility closures and consolidations. Of this charge, $5 million was associated
with our Engine Business, $4 million with Power Generation, $3 million with
Filtration and Other and $4 million with the International Distributor Business.

The charges included severance costs and related benefits of terminating
approximately 220 salaried and 350 hourly employees and were based on amounts
pursuant to established benefit programs or statutory requirements of the
affected operations. These actions reflect overall reductions in staffing levels
due to closing operations and moving production to available capacity. As of
December 31, 2002 approximately 200 salaried and 350 hourly employees had been
separated or terminated under this plan. The asset impairment charge relates to
equipment available for disposal. The carrying value of the equipment and the
effect of suspending depreciation on the equipment were not significant. In the
fourth quarter 2002, the number and mix of employees that were terminated under
this plan differed from our original estimate. As a result, we reversed
approximately $1 million of severance costs and related benefits to income.

During 2002, we paid approximately $10 million in liabilities related to
this action. As of December 31, 2002, $2 million remained in accrued liabilities
for this plan. The majority of this restructuring action was completed by the
end of the first quarter 2003 and we expect to complete the remainder by the end
of 2003.

This action is expected to generate approximately $13 million in annual
savings. For the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately $6 million in
savings was recognized in cost of goods sold.

2001 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS

In the first half of 2001, primarily as a result of the continuing downturn
in the North American heavy-duty truck market and several other end-markets, we
announced further restructuring actions and recorded restructuring charges of
$128 million, most of which was recorded in the second quarter. The charges
included $18 million attributable to workforce reduction actions, $68 million
for asset impairment and $42 million related to cancellation of capital and
tooling equipment purchase commitments. In addition we recorded other charges of
$1 million attributed to the divestiture of a
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small business operation. These charges were reduced by a $3 million reversal of
excess 2000 restructuring accruals. Of the net $126 million charge,
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$113 million was associated with the Engine Business, $8 million with the Power
Generation Business, $4 million with the Filtration and Other Business and
$1 million with the International Distributor Business.

The workforce reduction actions included overall reductions in staffing
levels and the impact of divesting a small business operation. The charges
included severance costs and related benefits of terminating approximately 500
salaried and 350 hourly employees and were based on amounts pursuant to
established benefit programs or statutory requirements of the affected
operations. All employees affected by this workforce reduction plan and the
subsequent fourth quarter 2001 realignment plan were terminated by the end of
the fourth quarter of 2002.

The asset impairment charge and the charges for cancelled purchased
commitments were for equipment, tooling and related investment supporting a new
engine development program that was cancelled in the second quarter of 2001. For
assets that will continue to be used, the amount of the impairment was
determined based on the difference between the carrying value of the assets and
their fair value based on discounted future cash flows. For assets to be sold or
disposed, the amount of impairment represents the difference between the
carrying value and the expected salvage value of the equipment less costs to
dispose (this was the primary method used on the assets associated with the
cancelled engine program). The charges included the investment in manufacturing
equipment previously capitalized and cancellation charges for capital and
tooling purchase commitments. The charge was reduced by the estimated salvage
value related to the planned equipment disposals. During 2002, we recovered
$9 million of salvage proceeds on planned equipment disposals. In addition, we
reversed $6 million against the original restructuring charge related to
settling our equipment commitments for less than our original estimates. In the
fourth quarter 2002, we transferred $3 million of previously impaired
manufacturing equipment to a U.S. plant as a result of consolidating our ISX
assembly and realigned our workforce reduction plan. These actions resulted in
the reversal of an additional $12 million in excess charges related to this
plan.

During 2002, we paid approximately $9 million related to liabilities under
this plan. As of December 31, 2002 approximately 511 salaried and 540 hourly
employees have been separated or terminated under the workforce reduction
actions of this plan. We have completed this restructuring action as of
December 31, 2002.

For the year ending December 31, 2002, we recognized approximately
$24 million in savings under this plan comprised of $14 million in cost of goods
sold, $7 million in selling and administrative expenses and $3 million in
research and engineering expenses.

2000 RESTRUCTURING ACTIONS

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we announced restructuring plans
primarily in response to the downturn in the North American heavy-duty truck
market and several other end-markets where our shipments had declined
35 percent from 1999 and recorded a $138 million restructuring charge. The
charges included workforce reduction costs of $39 million, $88 million for asset
impairments (including $30 million for internally developed software) and
$11 million associated with exit costs to close or consolidate a number of small
business operations. In addition, we recorded $13 million of other charges
related to asset impairments not associated with the restructuring actions
($10 million for investments and $3 million for intangibles). In addition to the
2000 restructuring charge, we recorded a net $3 million charge related to prior
years restructuring actions. Of these amounts, $125 million was associated with
our Engine Business, $18 million with our Power Generation Business and
$11 million with our Filtration and Other Business.
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The workforce reduction actions included overall reductions in staffing
levels and the impact of divesting a small business operation. The charges
included severance and benefit costs of terminating approximately 500 salaried
and 630 hourly employees and were based on amounts pursuant to
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established benefit programs or statutory requirements of the affected
operations. In the fourth quarter 2001, we realigned our workforce reduction
plan and reallocated $2 million of excess liabilities for termination benefits
to workforce reduction actions committed to during that quarter. All employees
affected by this workforce reduction plan were separated or terminated by

June 30, 2002 and all remaining severance costs and related benefits under this
action were paid by December 31, 2002. Approximately 560 salaried and

380 hourly employees were affected by the workforce reduction actions of this
plan.

The asset impairment charge of $88 million was calculated in accordance with
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121,
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
be Disposed Of". For assets that will continue to be used, the amount of the
impairment was determined based on the difference between the carrying value of
the assets and their fair value based on discounted future cash flows. For
assets to be sold or disposed, the amount of impairment represents the
difference between the carrying value and the expected salvage value of the
equipment less costs to dispose. Approximately $30 million of the charge
consisted of capitalized software-in-process related to manufacturing, financial
and administrative information technology programs that were cancelled during
program development and prior to implementation. The remaining $58 million
included $38 million for engine assembly and fuel system manufacturing equipment
to be disposed of upon closure or consolidation of production operations. The
equipment was expected to continue in use and be depreciated for approximately
two years from the date of the charge until closure or consolidation. The
expected recovery value of the equipment was based on estimated salvage value
and was excluded from the impairment charge. The charge also included
$11 million for equipment available for disposal, $6 million for properties
available for disposal, and $3 million for intangibles. The carrying value of
assets held for disposal and the effect of suspending depreciation on these
assets was not significant.

In the second quarter 2002, we cancelled plans to close a filtration
manufacturing plant ($1 million), transferred $2 million of previously impaired
power generation equipment slated for disposal to a foreign operation, realigned
our workforce reduction plan ($1 million) and settled legal claims from a
previous disposal action for less than originally estimated ($2 million). These
actions resulted in a reversal of $6 million in excess charges related to this
plan. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we moved our ISX assembly to another U.S.
plant which reduced the need for a previous accrual. As a result of this action,
asset removal costs previously provided for at the two production facilities
were no longer needed and $2 million in excess charges related to this plan were
reversed.

During 2002, we paid approximately $12 million related to liabilities under
this plan. As of December 31, 2002, all activities associated with this
restructuring plan are completed.

For the year ending December 31, 2002, we recognized approximately
$60 million in savings under this plan comprised of $46 million in cost of goods
sold, $12 million in selling, general and administrative expenses and
$2 million in research and engineering expenses.
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INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense was $25 million in the third quarter of 2003 compared to
$15 million in the third quarter last year. For the first nine months of 2003,
interest expense was $65 million compared to $44 million a year ago. The
increase in quarter-over-—-quarter and year-over-year interest expense reflects
the higher costs of borrowed funds, specifically the issuance of our 9.5% Senior
Notes in November 2002 and higher borrowing levels. In addition, $5 million of
third quarter dividends on our preferred securities are classified as interest
expense, effective July 1, 2003, in accordance with a new accounting standard
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (see "Recently Adopted
Accounting Pronouncements") .
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Cash payments of interest for the first nine months of 2003 and 2002 are
disclosed in the consolidated statements of cash flows (for the nine months
ended September 28, 2003 and September 29, 2002).

Interest expense was $61 million in 2002 compared to $77 million in 2001, a
decrease of $16 million. Lower borrowings as a result of our preferred
securities issuance in 2001 and lower interest rates accounted for a majority of
the decrease. Interest expense in 2001 was $10 million lower than 2000,
primarily from the issuance of the preferred securities in July 2001 and reduced
debt levels. Cash payments of interest for 2002, 2001 and 2000 were
$52 million, $80 million and $88 million, respectively and are disclosed
separately in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the fiscal years
ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, (the "Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows").

LOSS ON EARLY RETIREMENT OF DEBT

In November 2002 we elected to repay all of the outstanding 5.61% notes due
2010 issued by our Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) trust. The election to
redeem the notes early was a result of a covenant conflict with our new
revolving credit facility that we entered into in November. The aggregate
redemption price for the notes was approximately $51 million, plus redemption
premiums of $8 million and accrued interest of approximately $1 million. The
$8 million redemption premium is classified in our consolidated statements of
earnings for the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000 (the "Consolidated Statements
of Earnings") as "Loss on early retirement of debt."

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

Other income was $7 million in the third quarter 2003 compared to
$3 million of income in the third quarter of 2002, or a $4 million increase. On
a year-to-date basis, other income was $17 million compared to $10 million a
year ago. The major components of other income and expense, classified as either
operating or non-operating, are disclosed in Note 4 of the consolidated
financial statements (for the periods ended September 28, 2003 and
September 29, 2002) included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Other income and expense was a net $9 million of income in 2002 compared to
net expense of $0 million in 2001. A majority of the increase is a result of the
discontinuance of goodwill amortization in accordance with a newly adopted
accounting standard (see Note 6 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
Other income and expense in 2000 was a net $6 million expense compared to net
expense of $0 million in 2001. Other income and expense includes several
transactions comprising foreign currency exchange, interest income, royalty
income and other miscellaneous items. The major components of other income and
expense are segregated between operating items and non-operating items and are
disclosed in note 15 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

We recorded an income tax provision of $9 million in the third quarter of
2003 compared to a $16 million tax provision recorded in the third quarter of
2002. Our income tax provision for the first nine months of 2003 was $5 million
compared to $15 million in the first nine months of 2002. The third quarter and
first nine months of 2003 and 2002 income tax provision reflect an estimated
annual effective tax rate of 25 percent of earnings before income taxes after
deducting dividends on our preferred securities.

Our income tax provision in 2002 was a benefit of $38 million, including a
one-time favorable tax adjustment credit of $57 million related to the
settlement during 2002 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service income tax audits
for the tax years 1994 through 1999. In addition, our effective income tax rate
on operations in all years 2002 through 2000 was less than the 35 percent U.S.
corporate income tax rate because of reduced taxes on export sales, research tax
credits and (in 2002 and 2001) dividends on preferred securities, which are
deductible as interest expense for federal tax purposes. The 2002 effective tax
rates were 34 percent for restructuring credits and 35 percent for early
retirement of debt charges. The effective tax rate on restructuring charges in
2001 was 33 percent and in 2000 was
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35 percent. Note 12 of the Consolidated Financial Statements includes a more
complete disclosure of our income taxes. The amount of income taxes paid in 2002
and 2001 was $30 million and $20 million, respectively, and is disclosed in our
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

MINORITY INTEREST

Our minority interest from consolidated operations was $3 million in the
third quarter of 2003, unchanged from the $3 million in the third quarter of
2002. For the first nine months, earnings from minority interest were
$9 million compared to $11 million in the first nine months of 2002. The
decrease in minority interest is primarily from lower earnings at Wuxi Holset, a
55 percent owned-subsidiary and Cummins India Limited, a 51 percent
owned-subsidiary.

Minority interest in income of our consolidated operations was $16 million
in 2002 compared to $15 million in 2001 and $14 million in 2000. The increase
over 2001 and 2000 is primarily from higher earnings due minority partners as a
result of improved earnings in the operating results of Cummins India Limited
and Wuxi Holset Ltd.

DIVIDENDS ON PREFERRED SECURITIES

Dividends on our preferred securities were $5 million in the third quarter
of 2002 and have been prospectively classified as interest expense, effective
July 1, 2003, in accordance with a new accounting standard issued by the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (see "Recently Adopted Accounting
Pronouncements"). Accordingly, for the first nine months of 2003, dividends on
our preferred securities were $11 million compared to $16 million for the first
nine months of 2002. A description of the securities is provided in Note 9
"Convertible Preferred Securities of Subsidiary Trust" of our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Dividends on our preferred securities were $21 million in 2002 compared to
$11 million in 2001. Our preferred securities were issued in June 2001 and
results for that year include dividend payments for the last two quarters while
2002 results include a full year of dividend payments.
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Dividends on our preferred securities were $5 million in the second quarter
of 2003 and 2002 and $11 million for the first half of 2003 and 2002.

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF A CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we changed the measurement date for
measuring our return on pension plan investments and our minimum liability for
pension obligations from September 30 to November 30. This change in measurement
date aligns more closely with the date of our financial statements and we
believe provides a more current measurement of plan assets and obligations than
previously presented. The impact of this change is reported in our Consolidated
Statements of Earnings as a change in accounting principle. The cumulative
after-tax effect of the change was a $3 million credit, or $0.07 per share,
recorded as of January 1, 2002. The effect of this accounting change on 2002 net
earnings was not significant.

NET EARNINGS

Net earnings for the year ending 2002 were $82 million, or $2.13 per share,
compared to a net loss of $103 million or ($2.70) per share in 2001 and net
earnings of $14 million, or $0.35 per share in 2000. Net earnings for 2002
included a pre-tax credit of $8 million for excess restructuring accruals, an
$8 million pre-tax loss on early retirement of debt, and a $3 million net-of-tax
credit for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting for pensions. Also
reflected in 2002 net earnings is a one-time $57 million favorable tax
adjustment related to settlement of U.S. Internal Revenue Service income tax
audits for the years 1994 through 1999. In comparison, our 2001 loss of
$103 million included a net after tax charge of $84 million related to
restructuring actions and our 2000 net earnings of $14 million included a net
after tax charge of $100 million for restructuring actions.
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BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS
ENGINE BUSINESS

The revenues and operating income for the Engine Business segment for the
third quarter and nine-month interim periods were as follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS
SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTENM
2003 2002 2003 20

Netl SAleS .ttt e eeeeeeeeeeeeeennannaens S
Segment EBIT . ...ttt teeenenenneeeeeeeennnnns S

The Engine Business shipped 82,100 engines in the third quarter 2003, a
decrease of 8,500 units, or 9 percent, compared to engines shipped in the third
quarter of 2002. Most of the sales variance between periods was a result of
accelerated purchases of heavy-duty engines in the third quarter of 2002 in
response to the October 1, 2002 new emissions standards. Shipments of heavy-duty
engines declined 9,800 units, or 45 percent while shipments of midrange engines
increased 2 percent and shipments of high-horsepower engines were flat compared
to third quarter 2002. Total engine shipments to automotive related markets were
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64,000 in the current quarter compared to 73,500 units a year ago, or a decline
of 13 percent. Engine shipments to the off-highway industrial markets were
18,000 units in the third quarter of 2003, up 5 percent compared to shipments a
year ago.

On a comparative year-to-date basis, unit shipments for the Engine Business
were down 2,600 units, or slightly more than 1 percent, with shipments to
automotive related markets nearly flat, and shipments to industrial markets were
down 2,700 units, or 5 percent.

The revenues and operating income for the Engine Business segment for the
three years ended December 31, 2002, were as follows:

(IN MILLIONS)

NEl SOl S . ittt it ittt ettt ettt et e e e eeeeaeeeeseeeeeanneeeneens $3,435 $3,121 $4,050
Earnings (loss) before interest, income taxes and

restructuring and other charges (credits)................. 37 (95) 34
Restructuring and other charges (credits)................... (12) 113 125
Earnings (loss) before interest and income taxesS............ S 49 S (208) S (91

Total net sales for our Engine Business were $3.44 billion in 2002 compared
to $3.12 billion in 2001, an increase of $314 million, or 10 percent, primarily
due to strong sales of our Dodge Ram truck engine and an upturn in heavy-duty
OEM engine shipments prior to the October 1 new emissions standards. Net sales
in 2001 were down $929 million, or 23 percent, when compared to net sales in
2000, due primarily to the downturn experienced in the North American trucking
industry characterized by high inventory levels of new and used trucks.

A summary of unit shipments for the Engine Business by engine classification
is shown in the table below:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS
SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEVM
UNIT SHIPMENTS 2003 2002 2003 20
DI R o= o Lo £ 69,400 68,100 198,900 189
Heavy—duLy . vttt ittt ettt et e e e 11,800 21,600 33,100 45
High-horsepower. . ...« iiieeneeeennnn 900 900 2,600 2
82,100 90, 600 234,600 237

The Engine Business shipped 308,200 units in 2002, an increase of 24,000
units, or 8 percent, compared to 284,200 units shipped in 2001. Engine unit
shipments were down 108,500 units in 2001, or
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28 percent lower than unit shipments in 2000. A summary unit shipments for the
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Engine Business by engine category follows:

UNIT SHIPMENTS 2002 2001 2000
MId=RANG e 4 e v e ettt ettt e e e e e eaeeeeeeeeeeenaaeeesseeeeeanneees 251,100 231,900 302,400
Heavy—DUL Y e v i ittt ittt e e e e e et e et e ettt 53,600 48,200 86,300
High-—HOr S e P OWe . v vttt e et e e e ettt e e ettt eeeeee e eaneeaeees 3,500 4,100 4,000

308,200 284,200 392,700

A summary and discussion of net sales for the Engine Business by market
application follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS
SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTENM
2003 2002 2003 20

(IN MILLIONS)

Heavy—duty TruUCK. ...ttt e e emeeneeeennnns $278 $ 378 $ 780 S
Medium-duty Truck and BUuS.........cceuvveee... 140 191 403
Light-duty Automotive...........cooiiieeon.. 264 236 714
Industrial. ...ttt ittt it i 193 171 561
High-horsepower Industrial.................. 67 57 189
$942 $1,033 $2,647 $2,
2002 2001 2000

(IN MILLIONS)

Heavy—DUtLY TrUCK . & v ittt ittt et ettt ettt eeeeeeeeneeeeeeenennns $1,069 $ 940 $1,444
Medium-Duty Truck and BuUS. ... ...t eneeteeeneeeeeeeennenns 599 577 662
Light-Duty Automotive. .. ...ttt ittt e ettt eeeeeeeen 781 576 830
D 0 ¥ 5 = s = 743 748 873
High-Horsepower Industrial........ ..t iiinneeeeeennneeennn 243 280 241

$3,435 $3,121 $4,050

HEAVY-DUTY TRUCK

Sales to the heavy-duty truck market were $278 million in the third quarter
of 2003, down $100 million, or 26 percent, compared to a year ago. Unit
shipments were 9,500 in the third quarter 2003 compared to 18,500 units a year
ago, a decrease of 9,000 units, or 49 percent. Sales to the heavy-duty truck
market during the first nine months of 2003 were down $82 million compared to
2002, or 10 percent, while unit shipments declined 31 percent compared to the
prior year. The higher sales and volumes in the third quarter 2002 are
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attributable to accelerated pre-buy activity as a result of the October 1, 2002
emissions standards change. Unit shipments to the North American heavy-duty
truck market continue to be adversely impacted by the change in the emissions
standards, while unit shipments of heavy-duty truck engines to international
markets increased 9 percent in the third quarter of 2003 compared to a year ago.

Sales to the heavy-duty truck market were $1.07 billion in 2002, up
$129 million, or 14 percent, compared to sales in 2001. The increase primarily
reflects an upturn in North American OEM engine shipments in response to
accelerated purchases prior to the October 1, 2002 effective date of the new EPA
emissions standards. Unit shipments of our heavy-duty truck engines in 2002 were
43,400 units compared to 37,900 units in 2001, an increase of 15 percent
year-over-year. Sales to the heavy-duty international truck market were
relatively flat compared to 2001. Shipments of our heavy-duty ISX truck engine
more than doubled compared to the prior year. Sales of heavy-duty truck engines
in 2001 were 35 percent lower than 2000 reflecting the downturn in the North
American trucking industry.
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MEDIUM-DUTY TRUCK AND BUS

Medium-duty truck and bus revenues in the third quarter 2003 were down
$51 million, or 27 percent below sales levels a year ago. Revenues for the
medium-duty truck market decreased 5 percent compared to the prior year's
quarter while unit shipments declined 14 percent. Unit shipments to the North
American medium-duty truck market were down 50 percent compared to a year ago,
while shipments of medium-duty engines to international markets increased
15 percent, primarily to OEMs in Latin America. Revenues from sales of bus
engines declined 70 percent compared to third quarter 2002 with most of the
decline a result of lower demand from North American OEMs due to the emissions
change and lower market share. Shipments to international bus markets were down
1 percent compared to the third quarter of 2002.

Medium-duty truck and bus revenues during the first nine months of 2003 were
down $83 million, or 17 percent, with shipments to the North American market
down 63 percent while shipments to international markets increased 8 percent. On
a year-to-date basis, sales of medium-duty bus engines were down 52 percent,
mostly to North American OEMs as a result of the emissions change and lower
market share.

Medium-duty truck and bus revenues increased $22 million in 2002, or
4 percent, above sales levels a year ago reflecting a slight increase in demand
as a result of the October 1, 2002 emissions standards. Unit shipments to the
North American medium-duty truck market were down 24 percent compared to a year
ago. Medium-duty shipments to international markets increased 10 percent,
primarily in Asia. Bus engine sales declined 8 percent globally while total unit
shipments were down 11 percent, primarily to international customers as
shipments to North American OEMs declined 3 percent compared to 2001.

Sales to the medium-duty truck and bus market in 2001 were $85 million
lower, or 13 percent below 2000 sales, primarily reflecting lower demand due to
deteriorating market conditions in the North American truck industry.

LIGHT-DUTY AUTOMOTIVE

Revenues from the light-duty automotive market increased $28 million, or
12 percent, compared to third quarter 2002 revenues. Total unit shipments were
up 19 percent compared to the prior year with most of the increase attributable
to strong demand from DaimlerChrysler partially offset by a reduction in unit
shipments to the recreational vehicle market. Total shipments to DaimlerChrysler
for the Dodge Ram truck were 34,400 in the third quarter 2003, an increase of
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7,600 units, or 28 percent higher than a year ago primarily from the strong
market acceptance of the new Dodge Ram pickup model. For the first nine months
of 2003, we shipped 97,400 engines to DaimlerChrysler, up 28,300 units, or

41 percent, compared to 69,100 engines shipped a year ago. Engine sales to the
recreational vehicle market were down 26 percent in the third quarter 2003
compared to the prior year and shipments were also down 26 percent from a year
ago due to the emissions standards change. Year-to-date sales to the
recreational vehicle market are off 27 percent compared to 2002. While some
recovery is evident in this industry and our market share has increased
primarily from favorable product acceptance, the change to the new emissions
standards has adversely impacted sales.

Revenues from our light-duty automotive market increased $205 million in
2002, or 36 percent, compared to 2001 revenues. Total unit shipments were up
27 percent compared to the prior year, with the increase evenly distributed
between shipments to DaimlerChrysler and shipments to OEMs in the North American
RV market. Shipments of our ISB engine to DaimlerChrysler for the Dodge Ram
truck were 99,900 units in 2002, an increase of 23,700 units, or 31 percent
higher than a year ago, primarily driven by the introduction of the new Dodge
Ram truck model. Unit shipments to the recreational vehicle market were up
38 percent year-over-year from previously weak demand levels, reflecting some
recovery in consumer markets and growth in the diesel-powered segment of this
market.

47

Sales to the light-duty automotive market in 2001 decreased $254 million, or
31 percent, compared to 2000 sales. Shipments to DaimlerChrysler were off
36 percent and were impacted by production constraints preceding the 2002 model
year changeover. Engine sales to the recreational vehicle market were down
7 percent compared to 2000 reflecting lower demand.

INDUSTRIAL

Sales to the construction, marine and agriculture markets in the third
quarter 2003 were up $22 million, or 13 percent, compared to the third quarter
2002 and were flat on a year-to-date basis. Worldwide shipments in the
construction equipment market increased 8 percent compared to the third quarter
of 2002 with unit shipments to North America relatively flat, up 1 percent, and
shipments to international markets up 12 percent, primarily to OEMs in Asia. For
the first nine months of 2003, worldwide shipments to the construction market
were down 3 percent, with shipments to North American OEMs down 15 percent and
shipments to international markets up 7 percent, primarily in Asia partially
offset by lower shipments to European OEMs. Overall demand in the construction
equipment market remains weak as capital spending levels have declined due to
slow economic growth.

Shipments to the marine markets decreased 9 percent compared to third
quarter 2002, and are down 18 percent year-to-date. The decline in year-to-date
marine business is primarily attributable to the formation of the Cummins
Mercruiser Jjoint venture in March 2002 with Mercury Marine, a division of
Brunswick Corporation, which builds recreational marine vessels. Engine sales
for the recreational marine market are now recorded by the joint wventure.
Shipments to the agricultural equipment market increased 24 percent from third
quarter of 2002, and are up 3 percent for the first nine months of the year.
Unit shipments to the North American market are down 24 percent during the
quarter while shipments to international markets increased 86 percent, with
strong demand from OEMs in Latin America.

Total industrial sales to the construction, marine and agricultural markets
were down $5 million in 2002, or relatively flat compared to 2001. Sales to the
construction segment of this market were down slightly year-over-year with unit
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shipments to North America and international OEM's down 8 percent and

7 percent, respectively. Engine sales to the agricultural equipment market were
up 16 percent compared to 2001, primarily due to international OEM's in Latin
America. Sales to the North American market increased 7 percent. In the marine
market, sales were down 6 percent compared to the prior year, partially as a
result of our new joint venture with Brunswick Corporation, Cummins Mercruiser.
Sales of engines for recreational marine applications are now recorded by the
joint venture.

Industrial engine sales in 2001 were down 14 percent compared to 2000, with
a majority of the decline in the construction market where sales were down
18 percent as OEM's adjusted to lower market conditions.

HIGH-HORSEPOWER INDUSTRIAL

Total sales of high-horsepower industrial engines were $67 million in the
third quarter 2003 compared to $57 million a year ago, an increase of
$10 million, or 18 percent. For the first nine months of 2003, revenues from
sales of high-horsepower industrial engines are up slightly increasing
5 percent. Sales to the high-horsepower mining market were up 20 percent in
third quarter 2003 and 13 percent for the first nine months of 2003 with
shipments increasing to both domestic and international regions despite a
continued soft market from lower commodity prices. High-horsepower engine sales
to the rail sector in the third quarter, which are primarily international
sales, were down 10 percent for the quarter and 50 percent year-to-date while
high-horsepower sales to government markets, primarily engines for military
applications, were up 50 percent compared to third quarter 2002, and up
69 percent for the first nine months of 2003, with increased sales to both North
American and international markets.
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Sales of our V, K and Q series high-horsepower industrial engines in 2002
were down $37 million or 13 percent compared to the prior year. Unit shipments
to the North American mining market declined 46 percent while shipments to
international OEMs in the mining markets declined 11 percent compared to 2001.
Shipments of high-horsepower engines to the rail sector, which is primarily
international business, were down 22 percent from the prior year. Shipments of
our high-horsepower engines to government markets, primarily V series military
applications, were up 28 percent with the majority of the increase in North
America.

High-horsepower industrial engine sales in 2001 were up 16 percent compared
to 2000, primarily driven by market share gains in the mining segment and
increased sales to the rail car market as a result of large orders in Europe and
Asia.

EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS

Operating earnings before interest and taxes for the Engine Business in the
third quarter and first nine months of 2003 were $36 million and $38 million,
respectively, compared to operating earnings in the third quarter and first nine
months of 2002 of $51 million and $50 million, respectively. The decrease in
operating earnings for the third quarter and first nine months resulted from
lower heavy-duty engine volumes and higher costs associated with the launch of
our new emissions compliant products, both of which adversely affected operating
results and slightly higher selling and administrative expenses (up
$4 million), partially offset by lower product coverage costs, research and
development expenses (down $2 million) and improved earnings at our joint
ventures (up $11 million).

FEarnings before interest, taxes and restructuring actions increased from a
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loss of $95 million in 2001 to earnings of $37 million in 2002, an improvement
of $132 million. The improvement is primarily a result of higher engine volumes
and the accompanying benefit of fixed cost absorption at our manufacturing
plants and our continued focus on cost reduction. The $95 million loss before
interest, taxes and restructuring actions in 2001 was $129 million worse on a
comparable basis than 2000 results, primarily from lower volumes due to the
downturn in the North American truck industry. Over the last two years, the
Engine Business has lowered its break-even results through restructuring actions
and cost-reduction efforts to better align its production costs with expected
industry demand levels.

CONSOLIDATION OF HEAVY-DUTY ASSEMBLY

As part of our continuing effort to reduce our production costs, we
announced plans in the fourth quarter of 2002 to consolidate our heavy-duty
engine assembly and test operations at our Jamestown, New York plant.
Approximately 200 employees in the heavy-duty engine business were eliminated as
a result of consolidating assembly and test operations at our Columbus, Indiana
engine plant into existing assembly operations at our Jamestown plant. The
consolidation was completed during the first quarter of 2003. None of the costs
associated with the consolidation were recorded as restructuring charges.

POWER GENERATION BUSINESS

The revenues and operating income for the Power Generation Business segment
for the third quarter and nine-month interim periods were as follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTH
SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEP
2003 2002 2003

(IN MILLIONS)

Netl SAlES .ttt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnnaens $363 $315 $937
SegmMENt EBIT . v vt e e te e e teeeeeeeeeenenannnn S — S 3 $(29)
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Sales in our Power Generation Business were $363 million in the third
quarter 2003, up $48 million, or 15 percent, compared to third gquarter sales a
year ago. For the first nine months of 2003, Power Generation sales were up
$35 million, or 4 percent, as weak demand continues in the commercial generator
set business.

A summary of unit shipments for the Power Generation business by engine
classification follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS
UNIT SHIPMENTS SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEM
2003 2002 2003 20

Mid=TaANgE e v vttt ettt ettt e et e e eeaeeeeeeeannnns 4,400 3,700 11,000 10,
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Heavy—AULy . v ottt ittt e ettt ee e 1,400 1,100 3,600
High-horsepower. . ...ttt iiiennneeennnn 1,500 1,300 3,700
7,300 6,100 18,300

Total engine shipments for generator drive assemblies were 64 percent of
total engine shipments in the third quarter 2003, compared to 57 percent a year
ago. Third quarter and year-to-date revenues of generator drive units were
$65 million and $161 million, respectively, up 38 percent and 21 percent,
respectively as a result of increased volumes. Shipments of generator drive
units were up 33 percent compared to third quarter 2002 and were up 14 percent
for the first nine months of 2003. The increase in shipments was across most
geographic regions with strong demand in Europe, Mid-East and North America.
Shipments of generator drive units powered by midrange engines were up
34 percent compared to third quarter a year ago, and were up 17 percent on a
year-to-date basis. Unit shipments of generator drives with heavy-duty engines
were up 58 percent in the third quarter compared to a year ago and were up
15 percent for the year. Shipments of high-horsepower generator drive units
increased 11 percent quarter-over—-quarter and were up 4 percent year-over-year.

Total shipments of generator sets were flat compared to the prior year's
quarter as midrange units increased 6 percent, heavy-duty units were down
5 percent and high-horsepower units decreased 12 percent with shipments to North
America down 5 percent and international shipments up 6 percent. For the first
nine months of 2003, shipments of generator sets were down 4 percent with
shipments of high-horsepower units with typically higher margins down
20 percent. Total revenues from generator sets were up 7 percent compared to
third quarter 2002 and were down 6 percent year-over-year, primarily from the
decline in high-horsepower unit sales. Shipments of generator sets in North
America were down 8 percent during the quarter and 3 percent for the first nine
months of 2003, while international shipments were up 6 percent during the
quarter, primarily to the Mid-East and Latin America and down 7 percent for the
first nine months.

Sales of alternators, representing 12 percent of third quarter net sales for
the Power Generation Business, increased 48 percent compared to third quarter
2002 and were up 24 percent for the first nine months of 2003 reflecting strong
demand from manufacturers of power generation equipment. Generator set sales to
the consumer mobile/RV market, representing 19 percent of third quarter net
sales, were up 10 percent during the quarter and 5 percent in the first nine
months of 2003 also reflecting increased demand.
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The revenue and operating income for the Power Generation Business segment
for the three years ended December 31, 2002 were as follows:

2002 2001
(IN MILLIONS)
NEl SOl S ittt ittt et e ettt ettt ee e e eeeaeeeeeseeeeeanneeeenens $1,226 $1,422
Earnings (loss) before interest, income taxes and
restructuring and other charges (credits)................. (25) 82
Restructuring and other charges........ .t tiennnnnnn. - 8
FEarnings (loss) before interest and income taxes............ S (25) S 74
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Sales in our Power Generation Business were $1.23 billion in 2002, down
$196 million or 14 percent, compared to 2001. A majority of the sales decline is
a result of lower generator set sales, down 26 percent and lower generator drive
sales, down 24 percent, offset by increased sales to the mobile and recreational
vehicle markets, up 22 percent compared to 2001. Total engine shipments for the
power generation market were 23,700 units, down 4,000 units, or 14 percent lower
than a year before, reflecting weak demand and slow economic growth in this
market.

Power Generation revenues in 2001 were 2 percent higher than 2000, primarily
driven by higher sales to Latin America and Brazil and offset by lower sales in
North America. Sales of small generator sets to the recreational vehicle
industry were down 7 percent in 2001 compared to 2000.

A summary of engine unit shipments for the Power Generation Business by
engine category follows:

UNIT SHIPMENTS 2002 2001
D e Rl a0 L £ 14,000 13,800
Heavy—AUEL Y . v i ettt ittt e e e e e ettt et e e ettt et 4,300 6,900
High-horsSepoWer. vttt ettt et e e e e e et e ettt et aaeeeeeees 5,400 7,000

23,700 27,700

Total unit sales of midrange engines to the power generation market were up
200 units, or 1 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. Generator drive units powered
by midrange engines increased 18 percent over the same period while unit sales
to the midrange generator set market were off 15 percent. Total unit sales of
heavy-duty engines to the power generation market decreased 2,600 units, or
38 percent, in 2002 compared to 2001. Heavy-duty generator drive units were off
45 percent from a year before while generator sets powered by heavy-duty engines
were down 21 percent year over year. High-horsepower unit sales in the power
generation business decreased 1,600 units, or 23 percent compared to 2001.
High-horsepower generator drive units declined 11 percent year-over-year while
high-horsepower generator set units decreased 34 percent from the prior period.
The decline in unit shipments is attributable to weakening demand in the
heavy-duty and high-horsepower power generation equipment markets.

Most of the decline in generator drive units for stationary power occurred
in North America, Latin America and Europe and was offset by slight increases in
shipments to India and Southeast Asia markets. A majority of the decline in
generator set units is attributable to weak demand in North America, Latin
America and Europe.

Sales of alternators increased 6 percent in 2002 compared to 2001 while
sales of small generator sets for recreational vehicles and other consumer
applications increased 22 percent in 2002 reflecting strong demand in this
segment.
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EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS

In the third quarter of 2003, Power Generation results were break-even
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before interest and taxes, compared to $3 million operating income before
interest and taxes in the third quarter last year. For the first nine months of
2003, Power Generation incurred an operating loss of $29 million before interest
and taxes compared to a $14 million operating loss in 2002. While we continue
with our cost reduction actions, those benefits were more than offset by
continued market pricing pressure and unfavorable sales mix attributable to
lower sales of high-horsepower units with typically higher margins as well as
increases in healthcare and pension costs. Third quarter 2003 operating results
also include a $2 million benefit from the reversal of a second quarter pension
curtailment charge related to expected staffing reductions. Due to forecast
improvements in business conditions, the staffing reduction actions were
subsequently revised and as a result, fewer employees will be terminated and the
threshold for measuring a pension curtailment will not be achieved.

In 2002, Power Generation incurred an operating loss before interest and
taxes of $25 million, compared to earnings before interest and taxes of
$74 million in 2001. The overall decline in margin and earnings before interest
and taxes in the Power Generation Business is attributable to several factors.
First is the decrease in volume due to weak demand. Second is a shift in sales
mix, with a decline in unit shipments of higher margin heavy-duty and
high-horsepower products. Third, the overall decline in sales volume resulted in
underabsorption of fixed overhead costs at our manufacturing facilities. Fourth,
excess inventory in the marketplace continues to create pricing pressures
resulting in heavier discounting to retain market share. Finally, utilization of
Power Generation's rental fleet is lower in 2002 compared to last year due to
overall weak demand, resulting in reduced profitability of our rental fleet
business.

FILTRATION AND OTHER BUSINESS

The revenues and operating income for the Filtration and Other Business
segment for the third quarter and nine-month interim periods were as follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS
SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTENM
2003 2002 2003 20

Netl SAleS .ttt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeennnnneens S
Segment EBIT . ...ttt teeenneneoeeeeeeennnnns S

Revenues in the Filtration and Other Business were $255 million, up
$19 million, or 8 percent, compared to third quarter 2002. For the first nine
months of 2003, revenues were up $67 million, or 9 percent. While sales
increased to OEMs and aftermarket customers, approximately one-half of the
increase is attributable to the Emissions Solutions business and favorable
currency effects accounted for approximately $5 million of the increase.
Geographically, sales of filtration products increased in the U.S. up 8 percent
in the third quarter and 12 percent year-to-date with international sales up
10 percent for the quarter and 14 percent year-to-date. Revenues from the Holset
turbocharger business were up 10 percent over third quarter 2002 primarily as a
result of increased shipments to the European aftermarket, partially offset by
lower sales to China. Year-to-date sales for Holset were up 9 percent compared
to 2002.
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The revenues and operating income for the Filtration and Other Business
segment for the three years ended December 31, 2002, were as follows:

(IN MILLIONS)

J N o= B $951 $889 $902
Earnings before interest, taxes and restructuring and other

[0 o = Bl 1= 94 68 91
Restructuring and other charges........ ..ttt iennnnnnnn - 4 11

Filtration and Other Business revenues were $951 million in 2002, up
$62 million, or 7 percent, compared to 2001 sales. Revenues from filtration
products in the U.S. were up $30 million, or 6 percent, over 2001, reflecting
demand improvement and increased market penetration at North American
OEMs. Sales to OEMs in Europe, Australia, Mexico and other international
locations also increased compared to 2001. Revenues from the sale of Holset
turbochargers were up 15 percent compared to 2001, primarily from continuing
strong business in China. Approximately 27 percent of the increase in 2002
revenues for this business segment is attributable to Holset products.

EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS

Earnings before interest and taxes for the Filtration and Other Business in
the third quarter 2003 were $16 million compared to $19 million a year earlier.
For the first nine months of 2003, earnings before interest and taxes were
$61 million compared to $66 million in 2002. Operating results for the third
quarter were up $8 million from increased volumes and absorption benefit but
were offset by additional expenses for healthcare and pension expenses, up
$3 million quarter over quarter, and higher selling, administrative expenses, up
$8 million, primarily from funding targeted growth initiatives and other
one-time costs including product liability settlements. Third quarter and
year-to-date operating results have also been affected by changes in sales mix
as incremental margins from sales of our Emissions Solutions business are
generally lower than the base filtration business.

Earnings before interest, taxes and restructuring actions for the Filtration
and Other Business in 2002 were $94 million, up $26 million, or 38 percent,
compared to $68 million in earnings a year earlier. The improvement in
profitability is primarily a result of volume increases and the discontinuance
of approximately $9 million in goodwill amortization. In addition, incremental
expenses from this segment's new Emission Solutions business were offset by
benefits from restructuring actions and our Six Sigma cost reduction efforts.

INTERNATIONAL DISTRIBUTOR BUSINESS

The revenues and operating income for the International Distributor Business
segment for the third quarter and nine-month interim periods were as follows:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS

SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTENM
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Nel SAleS .ttt ettt eeeeeeennnnanas S
Segment EBI . ...ttt teeenenneeeeeeeeennnns S

Revenues from the International Distributor Business were $174 million in
the third gquarter 2003, up $22 million, or 14 percent, compared to third gquarter
2002 with modest improvement noted across most regions. For the first nine
months of 2003, revenues were up $58 million, or 14 percent, compared to the
first nine months of 2002. Sales of engines, parts and service in the South
Pacific and South
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Africa and increased power generation sales in the Middle East were strong
during the third quarter and first nine months with sales declines reported by
our distributorship in Hong Kong related to the economic impact of the SARS
virus.

The revenues and operating income for the International Distributor Business
segment for the three years ended December 31, 2002 were as follows:

(IN MILLIONS)

J N S = B $574 $562
Earnings before interest, taxes and restructuring and other

[0 o = Bl 1= 33 27
Restructuring and other charges........ .ttt iennnnennn 4 1

Revenues from the International Distributor Business were $574 million, up
$12 million, or 2 percent, compared to 2001. Sales of parts and engines
increased at distributor locations in Australia, East and Southeast Asia,
partially offset by sales declines in Latin America, primarily Argentina, and
Central Europe, primarily Germany. Sales for the year ending 2001 and 2000
include $42 million and $46 million, respectively, of certain OEM sales that are
now classified and reported as sales in the Engine Business segment. This
reporting change had no affect on earnings results in either business segment.

EARNINGS FROM OPERATIONS

Earnings before interest and taxes for the International Distributor
Business were $9 million in the third quarter 2003, down $1 million, or
10 percent, compared to third quarter 2002. Operating results improved by
$6 million due to increased volumes but were offset by lower margins on sales of
power generation equipment and higher selling and administrative expenses.
Year-to-date earnings were $27 million, up $10 million, or 59 percent
year-over-year, as a result of increased engine and parts sales and lower
exchange losses, primarily in Latin America.

Earnings before interest and taxes for the International Distributor
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Business were $29 million in 2002 compared to $26 million in 2001 and

$29 million in 2000. The increase in earnings in 2002 is primarily a result of
increased engine and parts sales at our distributors in East Asia, Southeast
Asia and South Pacific and offset by lower sales from distributors in Central
Europe, primarily Germany. Earnings from operations in 2001 were lower primarily
from the effect of foreign currency exchange losses at our Latin America
distributor in Argentina.
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GEOGRAPHIC MARKETS

Our net sales by geographic region during comparative interim periods were:

THIRD QUARTER NINE MONTHS

SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29 SEPTEMBER 28
2003 2002 2003

(IN MILLIONS)

United StatesS.....iiiiiiiiii it eeeennn S 873 $1,003 $2,429
ASia/AuUStralid. e ettt e e 292 263 805
o) o1 O T 204 178 618
Mexico/Latin AMETriCa. . uu et e et eeneeeneeennnn 130 80 328
(@8 o 1= - P 64 87 217
Africa/Middle East...u it eniteneeeneennnnn 71 37 163
Total International..........iiiiiiiieennnn.. 761 645 2,131

$1,634 $1,648 $4,560

Sales to international markets represented 47 percent of total revenues in
the third quarter of 2003 compared to 39 percent in the third quarter of 2002.
Total international sales in the third quarter 2003 increased $116 million, or
18 percent, over the third quarter of 2002, while year-to-date international
sales are up $191 million, or 10 percent. Sales to the U.S. market were down
$130 million in the third gquarter of 2003 compared to 2002 and down $70 million
on a year-to-date basis. Most of the decline in third quarter and year-to-date
domestic sales was attributable to accelerated purchases of heavy-duty engines
in the third quarter of 2002 in response to the October 1, 2002 new emissions
standards

Shipments of heavy-duty truck engines to international markets were up
9 percent compared to third quarter 2002 and were up 4 percent for the
year—to—-date period primarily to markets in Asia and Europe/CIS. Shipments of
midrange truck engines to international markets increased 15 percent during the
quarter and were up 12 percent for the first nine months of 2003, primarily from
higher demand at Latin American OEMs. Total engine shipments to the
international bus market were down 1 percent quarter-over—-quarter and 6 percent
year-over-year as a result of demand fall-off in Mexico and Asia. Shipments of
industrial engines to international markets were up 10 percent in the third
quarter of 2003 compared to 2002 and are up 3 percent year-over-year with most
of the increase in Asia and Latin America.

Sales to the Asia/Australia region increased $29 million, or 11 percent,
compared to third quarter 2002, primarily from increased demand for construction
applications in Asia partially offset by lower engine sales to the bus market.
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Sales to this geographic region were up $64 million, or 9 percent for the first
nine months of 2003 compared to the prior year. Sales to Europe/CIS,
representing 27 percent of international sales and 12 percent of worldwide sales
in the third quarter 2003, were up $26 million, or 15 percent, compared to the
prior year's quarter with increased sales in the Filtration and Other Business
and strong sales of generator drives where unit shipments were up 85 percent for
the quarter and 40 percent year—-over—-year. Business in Mexico/Latin America was
17 percent of total international sales in the third quarter 2003, compared to
12 percent a year ago with revenues up $50 million, or 63 percent during the
quarter, primarily due to higher shipments of heavy-duty truck engines, midrange
truck engines and industrial engines to agriculture OEMs partially offset by
lower sales to bus OEMs. Sales to the Canadian region, representing 8 percent of
international sales in the third quarter 2003 and 4 percent of worldwide sales,
were down 26 percent compared to third quarter 2002, and down 2 percent on a
year-to-date basis, primarily due to lower sales of remanufactured engines.
Sales to the Africa/Middle East region were up $34 million, or 92 percent,
quarter-over—quarter compared to 2002 and up $58 million, or 55 percent
year-over-year, primarily on strong engine and part sales and sales of
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power generation equipment at distributorships in Dubai and South Africa and
increased engine kit sales to BMC, our licensee in Turkey.

Sales to international markets in 2002 were $2.65 billion, or 45 percent of
total net sales, compared to $2.64 billion, or 46 percent of total net sales in
2001 and $2.82 billion, or 43 percent of total net sales in 2000. A summary of
our net sales by geographic territory for the last three years follows:

(IN MILLIONS)

L0 0 T T = i == $3,202 $3,045
ASIa/AUSETAL A8 . i it ittt ettt e e e e e e e e e e 1,023 901
EUTOPE/ Cl S e v e it et e et e et et e e et et e et e et e ettt 763 832
MeX1CO/LaAtin AMETICA . ¢ v vttt ettt ettt e et et eeeeeneeeneeenens 423 471
(G5 9 1= - 283 303
Africa/Middle Easth .uuu et ettt et teneeeeeeeneeeneeeneeenenn 159 129

$5,853 $5,681

Shipments of heavy-duty truck engines to international markets in 2002
decreased 3 percent compared to a year ago, primarily to Latin America and
Central Europe, partially offset by increased shipments to Mexican
OEMs. Shipments of midrange automotive engines to international markets
increased 10 percent in 2002, primarily to Latin America OEMs. Engine shipments
to the international bus market decreased 20 percent compared to a year ago,
primarily to China, India and Mexico, where shipments declined over 2000 units
compared to 2001. Shipments of light-duty automotive engines to international
markets declined 4 percent in 2002 compared to 2001. Engine shipments to
international agricultural and construction equipment markets were down
3 percent in 2002 compared to 2001 due to weak market conditions. Engine
shipments to international mining and rail markets were down 17 percent from the
prior year.

Sales to the Asia/Australia region increased $122 million, or 14 percent
compared to 2001, primarily from increased demand for engines, generator drives
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and sales at our Australian distributorship. Sales to Europe/CIS, representing
13 percent of total sales and 29 percent of international sales in 2002, were
down 8 percent compared to the prior year, mostly in the heavy-duty truck
markets in the UK. Business in Mexico, Brazil and Latin America decreased

10 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, primarily from lower power generation
revenues and a decline in bus sales, and offset by increased engine sales to the
agricultural market. Sales to Canada, representing 5 percent of net sales in
2002, were down 7 percent compared to 2001 due to lower heavy-duty truck
production and lower sales of filtration products. Sales to Africa/Middle East
increased 23 percent in 2002 compared to 2001, primarily from engines and parts
sales at our distributors in Dubai, Zimbabwe and South Africa.

Net sales to international markets in 2001 compared to 2000 were down
$186 million, or 7 percent, primarily due to weak demand in Europe/CIS, lower
sales in Canada due to the downturn in the North American heavy-duty truck
market, and lower sales to Africa/Middle East, primarily Turkey.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

CASH FLOWS

Key elements of our cash flows during the nine-month periods follow:

SEPTEMBER 28 SEPTEMBER 29
2003 2002

Net cash provided by operating activities................... $ 13 $56
Net cash (used in) investing activities................. ... (86) (69)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities......... (74) 12
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash..................... 3 -

Net change in cash and cash equivalents..........oiueeeeenn.. $(144) S(1)

The following table sets forth key elements of our cash flows for the last
three years:

(IN MILLIONS)

Net cash provided by operating activities................... $193 $152 $472
Net cash used in investing activities........... ... ... (152) (140) (410)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities......... 131 (2) (81)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash..................... 2 (1) (2)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents..........ooeeeeeenn.. $174 $ 9 $(21)

CASH FROM OPERATIONS

During the first nine months of 2003, our operating activities provided
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$13 million of cash compared to $56 million in cash provided by operations in
the first nine months of 2002, or a net decrease of cash provided by operations
of $43 million year-over-year. The net decrease of $43 million is partially a
result of lower net earnings, down $29 million compared to the prior year,
partially offset by $17 million of non-cash reversals in 2002 for restructuring
actions. In addition, net non-cash adjustments for earnings in our joint
ventures and alliances increased $29 million year over year due to improved
earnings and cash from minority interests declined $3 million during the same
period. Net changes in working capital consumed $141 million of cash during the
first nine months of 2003 compared to $145 million in the first nine months of
2002, or a decrease in net cash used for working capital of $4 million. The
change in cash used for working capital was comprised of a year-over-year
reduction in accounts receivable of $154 million and a $55 million decrease in
the repayment of sold receivables which improved working capital by

$209 million. Part of the improvement was offset during the same period by a
$79 million increase in inventories compared to a $12 million increase a year
ago and a net $126 million reduction in accounts payable and accrued expenses,
primarily from increases in pension funding, and a net reduction in other items
of $12 million.

Our operating activities provided positive cash flow of $193 million in 2002
compared to $152 million in 2001 and $472 million in 2000. The increase in cash
from operations in 2002 was largely due to improved net earnings, from a net
loss of $103 million in 2001 to net earnings of $82 million in 2002, or an
increase of $185 million, partially offset by decreases in non-cash adjustments
for restructuring and asset impairment charges, down $87 million, and non-cash
adjustments for earnings of our joint ventures and alliances, down $17 million.
Depreciation and amortization declined $10 million from the prior year,
primarily due to the discontinuance of $11 million of goodwill amortization
which does not affect cash flows. Cash flows from operating activities was
reduced by a net $33 million from changes in accounts receivable, inventories,
accounts payable and other operating assets and liabilities. Accounts receivable
increased $184 million, primarily due to repayment of our securitization
program,
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while inventory increased $25 million for a net year-over-year change in working
capital used of $209 million. This amount was partially offset by an increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses ($174 million). The increase in accounts
payable ($37 million) was primarily from higher material purchases and the
increase in accrued expenses ($127 million) was primarily due to higher accruals
for retirement liabilities ($70 million), interest ($12 million), and income
taxes and variable compensation.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net cash used in investing activities was $86 million in 2003 compared to
$69 million a year ago, a $17 million decrease in cash. Capital expenditures
during the first nine months of 2003 were up $16 million and software additions
increased $6 million compared to 2002. Year-to-date capital expenditures are
$70 million compared to $54 million a year ago and are expected to be less than
$100 million for 2003. Investments in and advances to joint ventures and
alliances provided $3 million of cash during the first nine months of 2003
compared to a cash outflow of $36 million a year ago, or an improvement of
$39 million in cash, primarily from repayment of advances. This amount was
partially offset by $31 million in cash from the disposition of certain
businesses during the first nine months of 2002. Purchases of marketable
securities used $103 million of cash during the first nine months of 2003
compared to $62 million in purchases a year ago, or a $41 million decrease in
cash from investing activities, primarily at Cummins India Limited (CIL). This
decrease, however, was more than offset by $98 million in cash proceeds from the
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sale of marketable securities in 2003 compared to $53 million in cash proceeds
from securities sales a year ago, or a net increase in cash of $45 million
year-over-year, again primarily from investing activities at CIL.

Net cash used in investing activities was $152 million in 2002 compared to
$140 million a year ago, an increase of $12 million but down considerably from
the $410 million cash used in investing activities in 2000. Cash flows from
investing activities in 2001 benefited from $143 million in proceeds from
sale-leaseback transactions. Excluding the cash flows from these transactions,
net cash used in investing activities was $283 million in 2001 compared to
$152 million in 2002, or a decrease of $131 million year-over-year. Most of the
decline was a result of lower capital spending in 2002, down $116 million
compared to 2001. Reduced capital spending remains a priority in 2003 as we
estimate our capital expenditures will be $110 million, up $20 million compared
to 2002, but down considerably from the $200 million spending levels of 2001 and
2000. Capital expenditures during the first half of 2001 included significant
disbursements for a subsequently cancelled engine program. Investments in and
advances to our joint ventures and alliances represented a cash outflow of
$60 million in 2002 compared to $48 million a year ago. The advances include
both long-term investment and short-term funding for working capital needs of
our joint ventures. Cash inflows from investing activities in 2002 also included
$23 million in proceeds from the sale of a previously consolidated
distributorship, $6 million in proceeds from the sale of a distributorship
acquired during the second quarter ($5 million outflow for business acquisition)
and $9 million of proceeds from assets sold to the newly formed marine business
joint venture, Cummins Mercruiser. Sales of marketable securities provided
$86 million of cash in 2002 but cash was reduced by the purchase $116 million in
securities during the same period. During 2001, sales of marketable securities
provided $53 million of cash and $74 million of cash was used for the purchase
of marketable securities.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

During the first nine months of 2003, financing activities used $74 million
of cash compared to $12 million of cash provided from financing activities in
the first nine months of 2002, or a net cash outflow of $86 million
year-over-year. Proceeds from borrowings were up compared to a year ago,
providing $16 million of cash in 2003 compared to $7 million in 2002. A majority
of the cash used in financing activities during the first nine months of 2003
was for payment of our $125 million 6.25% Notes that matured in March. Net
borrowings of less than 90 days under our short-term credit
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agreements were unchanged, providing $56 million of cash during the first nine
months of 2003 and 2002. During the third quarter of 2003, $37 million of cash
was provided by the issuance of common stock resulting primarily from the
exercise of stock options due to favorable market pricing. Additional cash
outflows from financing activities during the first nine months of 2003 and 2002
were $37 million of dividend payments on common stock. Other net financing
transactions used $14 million in cash in 2003 compared to $11 million of cash
used in 2002, a net use of $3 million in cash, primarily from dividends paid to
minority shareholders and the retirement of common stock.

Cash and cash equivalents were $80 million at September 28, 2003 compared to
$49 million at September 29, 2002 and $224 million at December 31, 2002, an
increase of $31 million and a decrease of $144 million, respectively.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $131 million in 2002 compared
to a net use of cash for financing activities of $2 million in 2001. A
significant financing activity providing cash in 2002 was the issuance of our
9 1/2% Senior Notes during the fourth quarter (See Note 8 to the Consolidated
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Financial Statements). Net proceeds of $244 million from this issuance were used
to repay borrowings under our accounts receivable securitization program and
were also used to retire our 6.25% Notes that matured in March 2003. Significant
financing activities in 2001 included $291 million in proceeds from the issuance
of our preferred securities in the second quarter of 2001 of which $247 million
was used to repay borrowings under our short-term credit agreements during that
quarter. Payments on long-term borrowings were $87 million in 2002 and included
early retirement of our ESOP Trust Notes (See Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements). Net borrowings under short-term credit agreements were

$4 million during 2002 compared to $248 million in 2001. Dividend payments on
our common stock were $50 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2002 were $224 million, an
increase of $174 million compared to $50 million of cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year. A majority of the increase in cash and cash
equivalents occurred in the fourth quarter when we received proceeds of
$244 million from the issuance of our 9 1/2% Senior Notes.

MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT OF LIQUIDITY

Since fiscal 2000, we have made a strategic effort to improve our cost
structure and improve efficiencies from continuing operations through
monetization of assets and restructuring actions. As a result, we have
undertaken various initiatives to improve cash flow, reduce debt obligations and
improve our financial flexibility. Our operations have historically generated
sufficient cash to fund our businesses, capital expenditures, research and
development and dividend payments. Cash provided by continuing operations is a
major source of our working capital funding. At certain times, cash provided by
operations is subject to seasonal fluctuations, and as a result, periodic
borrowings are used to fund working capital requirements. We have available
various short and long-term credit arrangements which are discussed below and
disclosed in Note 8 "Borrowing Arrangements" of our Consolidated Financial
Statements. These credit arrangements and our accounts receivable securitization
program provide the financial flexibility required to satisfy future short-term
funding requirements for our debt service obligations, projected working capital
requirements and capital spending. With the exception of payments required under
our operating lease agreements, there are no major fixed cash payment
obligations occurring until March 2005 when our 6.45% Notes with principal
amount of $225 million mature. Based on projected cash flows from operations and
existing credit facilities, management believes the Company has sufficient
liquidity available to meet anticipated capital, debt and dividend requirements
in the foreseeable future.

During the fourth quarter of 2000, we entered into a receivable
securitization program, which provides a cost-effective method to fund our trade
accounts receivable. This program diversifies our funding base by providing a
flexible source of funding that is not reported on our balance sheet. As of
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December 31, 2002, there were no amounts outstanding under this program. A more
complete description of the securitization program, which discloses certain cash
flows related to the program, is found in the following section "--Off Balance
Sheet Financing--Accounts Receivable Securitization Program".

In the second quarter of 2001, we issued 6 million shares of cumulative
convertible preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption through Cummins
Capital Trust I, a wholly-owned subsidiary. The net proceeds of $291 million
from this issuance were used to repay outstanding indebtedness under our
revolving credit agreement. Dividends on the preferred securities are payable at
an annual rate of 7% of the $50 liquidation preference on March 15, June 15,
September 15 and December 15 of each year or approximately $5.3 million in each
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quarter. A complete description of the preferred securities is disclosed in
Note 9 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. See also Recently Issued
Accounting Pronouncements below regarding a new accounting standard applicable
to these securities.

During the second and third quarters of 2001, we entered into two
sale—-leaseback transactions whereby we sold certain manufacturing equipment and
aircraft and received $143 million in proceeds from the transactions. The leases
were accounted for as operating leases. We used the proceeds from these
transactions to reduce our indebtedness and to fund our working capital
requirements. Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contains a
description of the sale-leaseback transactions.

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, we recorded significant charges to restructure
our operations, largely focused in the Engine Business. These actions and the
resulting charges were primarily taken in response to the downturn in the North
American trucking industry and related conditions and included workforce
reductions, asset impairment losses, termination of a new engine development
program and other charges. Total cash outflows associated with these actions
approximated $59 million, the majority of which has already been disbursed,
including $23 million in 2002. The associated annual savings of these
restructuring actions are estimated at $97 million upon completion. Note 7 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements describes in detail the restructuring
actions we have taken during the last three years.

In November 2002, we entered into a new revolving credit facility that
replaced our prior revolving credit facility. The new credit facility provides
for aggregate borrowings of up to $385 million and is available on a revolving
basis for a period of three years. Borrowings are primarily available in U.S.
dollars, although up to $60 million of the new credit facility is available for
multicurrency borrowing and letters of credit, up to $150 million is available
for letters of credit and up to $50 million is available for swing line loans.
We and a number of our subsidiaries are permitted to borrow and obtain letters
of credit under the new revolving credit facility, although the aggregate amount
of borrowings by, and letters of credit issued for the benefit of, our
subsidiaries under the new facility may not exceed $60 million. As of December
31, 2002, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility and
$94 million was utilized for letters of credit. Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements contains a more complete description of our new revolving
credit facility.

In November 2002, we issued $250 million of unsecured 9 1/2% Senior Notes
that mature in 2010. Proceeds from the issue were approximately $244 million,
net of debt issue costs. Proceeds from the notes were used to repay amounts
outstanding under our receivable securitization program and $125 million of the
proceeds were used to retire our 6.25% Notes that matured in March 2003.
Interest on the Notes is payable on June 1 and December 1 each year. We can
redeem the Notes in whole or in part at any time after December 1, 2006, at a
premium equal to 104.75% of par, declining to par in 2008, plus accrued
interest. A more complete description of our Senior Notes is disclosed in Note 8
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AVAILABLE CREDIT CAPACITY

The following table provides the components of our available credit capacity
as of September 28, 2003:

(IN MILLIONS)
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Revolving credit facility.vew e i ettt ittt te ettt eeeeennnns $227
International credit facilities........iiiiii it eennnn 30
Accounts receivable securitization............. .. 122

$379

As of September 28, 2003, our total debt including our preferred securities
was $1.393 billion compared with $1.428 billion at December 31, 2002 and
$1.293 billion at September 29, 2002. Total debt, including our preferred
securities, as a percentage of our total capital including preferred securities,
was 60.9 percent at September 28, 2003 compared to 62.9 percent at December 31,
2002 and 55.6 percent at September 29, 2002.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

A summary of payments due by period of our contractual obligations and
commercial commitments as of December 31, 2002, are shown in the tables below. A
more complete description of these obligations and commitments is included in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as referenced below.

CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATIONS 2003 2005 2007 200

Revolving credit facility.e ..o in e et in e eneneenenennns $ —- $ — S—-— $
Loans Payable . ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e e 19 - -
Long-term debt 119 245 4 7
CaPital 1EaSeS it ittt it ittt et e et e e 1 1 1
Operating L1easSe S . v vt it i it ittt e et e ettt et 70 104 81 1
Preferred securities of subsidiary trust................. - - - 2
$209 $350 $86 $1,2
2004~ 2006- AFTE
OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS 2003 2005 2007 200

Standby letters of credit.... ..ottt eeennnnnn $104 - -
[ B a8 o o Y 68 - -

FINANCIAL COVENANTS AND CREDIT RATING

A number of our contractual obligations and financing agreements, such as
our accounts receivable securitization program, our financing arrangements for
independent distributors, our new revolving credit facility and our equipment
sale-leaseback agreement, have restrictive covenants and/or pricing
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modifications that may be triggered in the event of downward revisions to our
corporate credit rating. Our corporate credit rating is determined by
independent credit rating agencies and comprises an assessment of the
creditworthiness of our debt securities and other obligations. It measures the
probability of the timely repayment of principal and interest of our notes and
short term debt. Generally, a higher credit rating leads to a more favorable
effect on the marketability of our debt
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instruments in the capital markets. A credit rating of Baa or higher by Moody's
or a rating of BBB or higher by Standard & Poor's is considered investment
grade. Currently, the corporate credit rating of our debt securities is below
investment grade.

In April 2002, Moody's Investors Services, one of two major credit rating
agencies, lowered our long-term and short-term debt ratings primarily as a
result of the continued weakness in the North American heavy-duty truck market.
Moody's lowered our senior unsecured long-term debt rating to Bal from Baa3 with
a Stable outlook. The short-term rating, which applies to our short-term
borrowings, was lowered to Not-Prime from Prime-3. Standard & Poors, the other
major credit rating agency, reaffirmed its rating of Cummins debt at BBB- and
expected the our liquidity and credit protection measures to remain satisfactory
for the current rating.

In October 2002, Moody's confirmed the long-term rating of our senior debt
at Bal but changed the outlook to Negative from Stable. Also in October,
Standard & Poors lowered our corporate credit rating to BB+ from BBB- with a
Negative outlook, primarily as a result of declining power generation sales and
weak heavy and medium-duty truck demand. In November, Moody's lowered our
long-term senior unsecured debt rating from Bal to Ba2 as a result of our
securing borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

Any rating can be revised upward or downward or withdrawn at any time by a
rating agency if it decides the circumstances warrant that change, and there can
be no assurance that our debt ratings will not be lowered further or withdrawn
by a rating agency. Any future lowering of our debt ratings could further
increase the cost of our financing agreements and arrangements, and also have a
negative impact on our ability to access the capital markets or borrow funds at
current rates.

Our current ratings and ratings outlook from each of the credit rating
agencies are shown in the table below. Each of the ratings should be viewed
independently of any other rating.

AGENCY SENIOR L-T RATING S—T RATING OUTLOOK
Moody's Investors Service, Inc......... Baz Non Prime Negative
Standard & PoOor's.......iiiiiiiiinn BB+ WR Negative

We do not believe a further downgrade of our credit rating will have a
material impact on our financial results or our financial condition. The
following is a discussion regarding the impact of the credit ratings on our
financing arrangements.

OFF BALANCE SHEET FINANCING--ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE SECURITIZATION PROGRAM

We entered into our accounts receivable securitization program in
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December 2000. As of December 31, 2002, there were no proceeds outstanding under
the securitization program and as of December 31, 2001, $55 million was
outstanding under the program. As of September 28, 2003, there were no amounts
outstanding under the program. The original agreement for this program required
us to maintain a minimum investment grade credit rating in our long-term senior
unsecured debt. As a result of the Moody's downgrade in April 2002, we
renegotiated the terms of the securitization agreement and renewed the
requirement to maintain a minimum investment grade credit rating. The terms of
the new agreement provide for an increase in the interest rate and fees under
this program of approximately $0.5 million annually at current funding levels.
As a result of amending the requirement, neither the October 2002 Standard &
Poor's downgrade, or the November 2002 Moody's downgrade affected our funding
under this program. Further downgrade of our debt rating from Moody's will
require us to renegotiate the terms of our securitization agreement in order to
continue funding under this program. Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements provides a more complete discussion of our accounts receivable
securitization program.
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FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS FOR RELATED PARTIES

In accordance with the provisions of various joint venture agreements, we
may purchase products and components from the joint ventures, sell products and
components to the joint ventures and the joint ventures may sell products and
components to unrelated parties. Joint venture transfer prices to us may differ
from normal selling prices. Certain joint ventures agreements transfer product
to us at cost, some transfer product to us on a cost-plus basis, and others
transfer product to us at market value.

We purchase significant quantities of mid-range diesel and natural gas
engines, components and service parts from Consolidated Diesel Company (CDC), an
unconsolidated general partnership. The partnership was formed in 1980 with J.
I. Case (Case) to jointly fund engine development and manufacturing capacity.
Cummins and Case (now CNH Global N.V.) are general partners and each partner
shares 50 percent ownership in CDC. Under the terms of the agreement, CDC is
obligated to make its entire production of diesel engines and related products
available solely to the partners. Each partner is entitled to purchase up to
one-half of CDC's actual production; a partner may purchase in excess of
one-half of actual production to the extent productive capacity is available
beyond the other partner's purchase requirement. The partners are each
obligated, unconditionally and severally, to purchase annually at least one
engine or engine kit produced by CDC, provided a minimum of one engine or kit is
produced. The transfer price of CDC's engines to the partners must be sufficient
to cover its manufacturing cost in such annual accounting period, including
interest and financing expenses, depreciation expense and payment of principal
on any of CDC's indebtedness. In addition, each partner is obligated to
contribute one-half of the capital investment required to maintain plant
capacity and each partner has the right to invest unilaterally in plant
capacity, which additional capacity can be utilized by the other partner for a
fee. To date, neither partner has made a unilateral investment in plant capacity
at CDC.

We are not a guarantor of any of CDC's obligations or commitments; however,
we are required to provide up to 50 percent of CDC's base working capital as
defined by the agreement. The amount of base working capital is calculated each
quarter and if supplemental funding greater than the base working capital amount
is required, the amount is funded through third party financing arranged by CDC,
or we may elect to fund the requirement although we are under no obligation to
do so. To date, when supplemental funding is required above the base working
capital amount, we have elected to provide that funding to CDC. If the amount of
supplemental funding required is less than the base working capital amount, it
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is funded equally by the partners. Excess cash generated by CDC is remitted to
Cummins until CDC's working capital amount is reduced to the base working
capital amount. Any further cash remittances from CDC to the partners are shared
equally by the partners.

FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS AND GUARANTEES FOR DISTRIBUTORS
U.S. DISTRIBUTORS

We guarantee the revolving loans, term loans and leases in excess of a
specified borrowing base for certain independently owned and operated North
American distributors as well as distributors in which we own an equity
interest. The agreement requires us to maintain a minimum investment grade
credit rating for our long-term senior unsecured debt. As a result of the
Moody's downgrade in April 2002, our guarantee under the operating agreement for
our guarantee program increased to the full amount of distributor borrowings
outstanding under the program. In the interim, the program lender agreed to
waive the additional guarantees of distributor indebtedness that were required
upon our ratings downgrade and continued to fund the distributors under this
program. We then amended the operating agreement with the lender under the
program to lower the ratings trigger one level. Subsequently, as a result of the
Moody's downgrade in November 2002, our guarantee under the operating agreement
for the guarantee program again increased to the full amount of distributor
borrowings under this program. We again amended the operating agreement with the
lender under the program, lowering the rating
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trigger for a period of approximately two years, at which time the rating
trigger will resume to its prior level. Under the amended agreement, if our
long-term senior unsecured debt rating falls below "BB" with Standard & Poor's
or below "Ba2" with Moody's, the lender under the program could elect to curtail
distributor borrowings and the amount of our guarantee would increase to the
total distributor borrowings outstanding under the program. In September 2003,
we amended the agreement to remove the rating trigger provided that by

Janaury 31, 2004 we provide Citibank with a letter of credit or credit insurance
covering distributor borrowings in excess of their borrowing base.

In addition, in the event the rating on our long-term senior unsecured debt
falls below the thresholds described above, we will also be required to pay the
lender a monthly fee equal to 0.50 percent on the daily average outstanding
balance of each financing arrangement under the operating agreement. Further, in
the event that any distributor defaults under a particular financing
arrangement, we will be required to purchase the assets of that distributor that
secure its borrowings under the financing arrangement

The operating agreement will continue in effect until February 7, 2007, and
may be renewed by the parties for additional one year terms. As of December 31,
2002, we had guaranteed $43 million of financing arrangements under the
operating agreement relating to U.S. distributor borrowings of $292 million.

CANADIAN DISTRIBUTORS

We have entered into a number of guarantee agreements with a Canadian lender
pursuant to which we have agreed to guarantee borrowings of certain independent
distributors of our products in Canada. Under the terms of these agreements, our
guarantee with respect to any one financing arrangement between a distributor
and lender is limited to 50 percent of the aggregate principal amount of the
financing. As of December 31, 2002, we had $15 million of guarantees outstanding
under these guarantee agreements relating to distributor borrowings of
$30 million.
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NEW REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY

In November 2002, we entered into a new revolving credit facility that
replaced our prior revolving credit facility. The new revolving credit facility
provides for aggregate borrowings of up to $385 million and is available on a
revolving basis for a period of three years. Borrowings are primarily available
in U.S. dollars, although up to $60 million of the new credit facility is
available for multicurrency borrowing and letters of credit, up to $150 million
is available for letters of credit and up to $50 million is available for swing
line loans. We and a number of our subsidiaries are permitted to borrow and
obtain letters of credit under the new revolving credit facility, although the
aggregate amount of borrowings by, and letters of credit issued for the benefit
of, our subsidiaries under the new facility may not exceed $60 million.

We guarantee all borrowings of our subsidiaries under the new revolving
credit facility. In addition, our principal domestic subsidiaries guarantee all
borrowings under the new revolving credit facility, although certain of those
guarantees are limited by the terms of our existing public indenture (which
governs a number of our existing notes and debentures) that restrict the ability
of our subsidiaries to incur or guarantee indebtedness, and are limited by
similar terms in the indenture governing our $250 million senior notes.

Borrowings under the new revolving credit facility (other than swing line
loans) bear interest at a rate equal to, at our option:

— the London inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR) plus a spread ranging from
0.875 percent to 2.5 percent based on our credit rating and utilization of
the credit facility; or
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- the Alternate Base Rate rate or ABR (which is the greater of the
administrative agent's prime rate and the federal funds effective rate
plus 0.5 percent) plus a spread ranging from 0 percent to 1.5 percent
based on our credit rating and utilization of the credit facility.

Following the November 2002 downgrade from Moody's, the effective rate of
interest on our borrowings under the new revolving credit facility increased
from LIBOR plus 175 basis points (1.75 percent) to LIBOR plus 200 basis points
(2.0 percent).

Swing line loans bear interest at the ABR rate plus a spread based on our
credit rating and utilization of the new revolving credit facility, or such
other rate as is agreed to by us and the swing line lender. We are required to
pay quarterly facility fees on unused commitments under the new revolving credit
facility, which fees are based upon our credit rating. We also are required to
pay an annual administration fee to the administrative agent for the facility.

Our obligations and the obligations of our subsidiaries under the new
revolving credit facility are collateralized by security interests in
substantially all of our assets and the assets of our domestic subsidiaries that
guarantee obligations under the facility (other than shares of stock or
indebtedness of our subsidiaries that are "restricted subsidiaries" under the
terms of our existing public indenture and other than assets that are considered
"principal properties" of ours or of our "restricted subsidiaries" under the
terms of our existing public indenture).

The terms of the new revolving credit facility contain covenants that
restrict our ability, and the ability of our subsidiaries, to among other
things, incur liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions, enter into
merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions, dispose of capital stock of
subsidiaries, incur subsidiary indebtedness and enter into swap transactions.
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The new revolving credit facility also restricts our ability to, under the terms
of our existing public indenture, redesignate "unrestricted subsidiaries" as
"restricted subsidiaries" or designate future subsidiaries as "restricted
subsidiaries". The new revolving credit facility also contains the following
financial covenants:

- we may not permit our net worth to fall below an amount equal to the sum
of (1) $1.15 billion and (2) 25 percent of the sum of our consolidated net
earnings for each of the fiscal quarters commencing after September 29,
2002 to and including the most recent fiscal quarter prior to the date on
which the net worth calculation is made and (3) 75 percent of the amount
by which our net worth has increased as a result of our issuance of
capital stock after September 29, 2002;

- we may not permit the ratio of (1) the sum of our consolidated
indebtedness and our securitization financings to (2) the sum of our
consolidated indebtedness, securitization financings and net worth to be
equal to or greater than 0.55 to 1.0; and

- we may not permit the ratio of (1) our consolidated EBITDA minus capital
expenditures to (2) our consolidated interest expense for any period of
four consecutive quarters, to be less than 1.50 to 1.0.

For purposes of the financial covenants described above, "net worth,"
"consolidated net income," "consolidated indebtedness," "consolidated EBITDA,"
"consolidated interest expense" and other financial measurements are calculated
in the manner provided by the terms of the new revolving credit facility
agreement.

As of December 31, 2002, we did not have any outstanding borrowings under
this revolving credit facility and we were in compliance with all of the
covenants of this agreement. As of September 28, 2003 we had $52 million
outstanding under this facility and were in compliance with all covenants,
except as previously discussed in this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section.
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EQUIPMENT SALE-LEASEBACK AGREEMENT

In 2001, we entered into a sale-leaseback agreement whereby we sold certain
manufacturing equipment and leased it back under an operating lease. As a result
of the Moody's downgrade in April 2002, and the Standard & Poor's downgrade in
October 2002, we were required under the lease agreement to obtain irrevocable,
unconditional standby letters of credit in an amount of $64 million. The letters
of credit were posted to the benefit of the equipment lessor and lenders and
will remain in effect until we achieve and maintain a minimum investment grade
credit 